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What's in @ Name ? B

for by its geographical and ethnographical position. By its
situation in the Firth of Clyde it was on the highway of the
sea-going nomads and nations on their northerly march of
conquest through Caledonia; and being no mean “coign of
vantage,” in course of time the isle became a debatable land
among the roving races. The Isle of Bute lies between the
county of Ayr on the east and the county of Argyle on the
north and west; is 15% miles long, and varies in breadth
from 1{ to 614 miles. It contains (without Inchmarnock,
675.054 acres) 31,161.421 acres, or over 49 square miles
(North Bute Parish, with Inchmarnock, 15,546.012 acres;
Rothesay, 6,624.575; Kingarth, 9,665.888). Of the aborig-
inal inhabitants few traces remain; and, indeed, were it not
for the references to the early Church in the Irish annals of
the eleventh century, there would be no cléar historical
record as to its separate existence till the time of the later
Norse invasions. Situated between the domain of conquer-
ing Romans and that of receding Caledonians, then between
the Brythons of Strathclyde and their Goidelic opponents in
the west, between these Brythons and the main body of the
Dalriadic Scots who swarmed out of Erin in the fifth century,
between these Scots and the redescending Picts of North
Caledonia at one time, and piratical Norsemen or Angles at
another, Bute seems to have been turned into a blood-stained
arena for warfare.

It is not to be wondered at that in the perplexing mazes of
Western geography Ptolemy and other early navigators either
omitted Bute or confounded its identity. Ireland and its
necighbouring isles were definitely known, and seem to have
been a source of interest on account of the alleged barbarity
of the inhabitants. Strabo informs us that, according to
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which, signifying a mountain (ghari, gherry, Sanscrit), is
common from the Himalayas to the Congo—still retained
in a corrupted form in Kingarth. In the Sclavonic tongue
gora is a mountain. And as in the Teutonic language burg,
a burgh, is related to éerg, a mountain, so in Russ the word
for a burgh is gorod (Novgorod, new town), and in Polish grod.

I have also examined various editions of Ptolemy, and
found divergences of readings. A map of Britannia, from
Ptolemy, published in Bonn in 1462, gives Postmalos, to the
south of which are Ebuda, Engaritena, and Postepidu, and
beneath these Monarma' Any one conversant with the
difficulties of transcribing ancient manuscripts knows how
easily a writer to dictation transposes, omits, or repeats
letters, syllables, or even phrases, and how even two words
are slid together to form one. ZEngaricenna has the appear-
ance of an undesigned combination, as I shall try to show.

The earliest written reference to Bute is found in ‘The
Annals of Tighernac’ of Cloinmacnois, who died in the year
1088, where, among other events connected with Ireland and
its Dalriadic colony, the deaths of “ Daniel, Bishop of Cind-
garadh” and “ John, Bishop of Cindgalarath,” are chronicled
under the years 660 and 689 A.D. ‘The Annals of Ulster,)
dating from 1498, refer also to these and other abbots of
Cinngarad, as is shown in a succeeding chapter.? There can
be no doubt that the monastic establishment of Kingarth—
one of the two parishes of Bute—is the abbacy meant.

The place-name has usually been associated with the
Gaelic words Ceann-garbh, signifying “the rough headland,”

1 Nordenskiold’s ¢ Facsimile Atlas,” Stockholm, 1889.
2 Chap, xi. ¢Chron. Picts,” pp. 71, 73, 76, &c. Ed. Skene, 1867.
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other isles in Scotland one bearing the name of Gurth:
“ Albania tota, que modo Scocia vocatur, et Morouia, et
omnes insule occidentales occeani usque ad Norwegiam et
usque Daciam, scilicet, Kathenessia, Orkaneya, Enchegal, et
Man et Ordas, et Gurih, et cetere insule occidentales occeani,”
&c! Dr Skene in his History says: “Ordas and Gurth are
probably intended for Lewis and Skye”? In 1887 I ven-
tured, however, to draw the attention of this distinguished
Celtic scholar to my theory that GurzZ was no other than
Kingarth or Bute, and received the following reply : “The
names of Ordas and Gurth occur twice in the tract you refer to.
First, as ‘Ordasiman, Gurth ;’ second, as ‘Man et Ordas et
Gurth.” I take ‘Ordasiman’to be simply a misreading for
‘Ordas et Man,’ so that the two are substantially the same.
I have no doubt, looking to the mistaken forms of some of
the other names, that Ordas and Gurth are corrupted read-
ings of names a little different; but looking to their being
conjoined with Man, and distinguished from Inchegall—a
name which embraced all the Western Isles, which the Nor-
wegians had occupied—I think the probability is that Arran
and Bute are meant. . . . The oldest form of Kingarth is
' Cinn-garadh, and it is repeatedly mentioned in this form in
the Irish annals. Garadh in old Irish is any enclosed place,
and passes readily into Gurth. This I believe to be the true
meaning of the name, and to suppose that the second syllable
is ‘garbh,’ rough, I consider quite inadmissible.” In the
seventeenth century Ninian Stewart granted a tack of the
teinds of /nchgarth (united to Rothesay) to Stuart of Askeoge.?

-

1 ¢ Chron. Picts,” pp. 153, 154. 2 ¢ Celtic Scot.,” vol. 1. p. 396.
8 Scott’s  Fasti,” vol. v. p. 29.
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etymon of the ZEbdudes”! In Johnston’s ‘Place Names of
Scotland’ (p. 48) we find: “Bute. Norse Chron, ¢ 1093,
Bot; 1204, Bote; 1292, Boot; in G. Boite. Some think
G. bot, the hut or bothy (of St Brendan) ; but Dr M‘Lauchlan
says (Hist, p. 316) fr. Bate of Bute, son of Kenneth IIL,
who lived early in eleventh century.” In Blain’s ¢ History of
Bute’ (pp. 6, 7), reference is made to Boot or Bote, signifying
compensation, or an equivalent, and to Bute or Beute, signify-
ing spoil, as possible roots for the name. An analysis of the
oldest forms of the word may elucidate its meaning  Its
present designation in Gaelic is Boéd or Boit (f) One of the
headlands is known as Rhubodach (Rud/a, a point ; Boideack
or Boiteach, of Bute). Rothesay is also called in the same
language Baile Bhoid or Mhoid. How long these Gaelic
names have existed cannot be determined, since it is only
in modern times they appear in written form. And the pro-
nunciation of the genitive forms of two distinct words being
identical, it is thus difficult to settle whether the name was
derived from &oid, a vow, votive- offering, oath, or from
mdd, moid, the Court of Justice or Mote, held in Rothesay ;
or again from a simple root Doz, of foreign origin, with a
meaning of its own. In this last form it is found in the
Islandic Sagas recounting the exploits of the Northmen in
the West.

To the Vikings the isle had the significant appellation
of Bét, Bétar (probably a plural form), Boot, Boet. Among
the documents seemingly taken by King Edward I of
England from the King of Scots’ Treasury at Edinburgh,

LY
1 ¢Crit. Dissert. on the Origin, &c., of the Ancient Caledonians,” pp. 235-240.
London, 1768.
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are mentioned. The Exchequer Rolls of 1329 have Boyet
and Boet. 1t appears in 1375 as Bute; in 1501, Butt. The
Martyrology of Aberdeen gives Bost and Bute; other Latin
writers Buta, Botha, Buthania. Dean Monro, 1597, Butt;
MS. Description of Scotland, 1580, Boyd. George Buchanan,
in his ‘History of Scotland,” 1582, gives in connection with
Boot this interesting fact: “It hath but one town in it, bear-
ing the name of the island; and in it an old castle called
Rothsey.” Blaeu’s Atlas, 1662, has Boor and Buthe. In the
vernacular of Ayrshire Bute is known as 57z, and an ex-
pression of a Lowlander’s contempt for a pure Celt was
“a rank Hielan’man frae the isle o’ Bit.” This was per-
haps a reminiscence of the days when the Scots harried
Strathclyde.

The name Bét may be fitly associated with the beacons
raised by the northmen in time of war. Snorre the historian
(1178-1241) points out that Haco had stringent laws regard-
ing beacons, by means of which he was able to flash
messages over his kingdom in seven days. In the Laws
of Magnus, King of Norway, a chapter is found dealing with
the “Fire-watch” — “ Um vita-vaurd,” wherein authority is
given to the royal procurators to compel the bondsmen to
raise the watch-tower, gather the fuel, and light the beacon
on sighting the foe, under severe penalties.! Olaus Verelius,
in his ¢ History of Gotric and Hrolf, Kings of Westro-Gotia,
in explaining the fire-watch, observes : “ Vizar are piles of dry
wood which are lit on maritime rocks for the purpose of an-
nouncing the approach of enemies; they are also called éatar

1 ¢Magnus Konongs Laga-Beters Gula-things-Lang,’ Harvie, 1817, p. 85;
quoted ©Archeeo. Scot.,” vol. iv. p. 171.






What's in @ Name ? 15

mination of the word, “ay or “ey,” signifying, in Norse, an
island of the second magnitude (¢y, @, 0¢, ay), is common in
the names of the Western Isles—as, for example, Cumbrae,
Sanday, Molasey (Holy Isle, ze, Lamlash), Herrey (Arran),
Islay, Dyrey (Tiree). As before stated, Bute and Rothesay
were synonyms. In 1594 Dean Monro mentions “the round
castle of Buitt, called Rosay of the Auld.”! During the Norse
invasions the castle does not appear to have had any desig-
nation, and is simply referred to as a “castle” (&kastolum) in
Bétar? Consequently we may surmise that the name was
given subsequent to the raids of the Vikings and the invasion
of Haco, else so important a hold would be named in so full
a work as Sturla’s contemporary ‘Saga of King Haco, in
which there are seven references to Bét and Bdtar., In the
¢ Chronicle of Man’ Rotkersay appears. In 12935 the con-
tracted form Rot/z7 is met ; later, 1283-1303, come Rot/yrsay,
Rothirsai, followed by Rothesey and Rothesai (1404). In 1367
the “Castrum de Raythysay” is mentioned. From 1397
downward “Rosay” is the vernacular form. Wyntoun has
Rosay. The ‘Metrical Chronicle’ refers to “the young
prince of Rosay.” Martin (1703) takes a note of Rosa?
In the genealogical® tree which the flattering medieval
chroniclers presented to the proud Scottish kings when the
independence of their realm was called in question by “the
auld enemy,” among other nebulous monarchs appears Rothir,
Rether, or Rothrir—a descendant of Symon Brek; and to
some such great hero the founding of Rothesay, on Rother’s
Isle, was attributed. Martin says, “ The people herec have a

1 See Appendix.
2 “Takonar Saga,” ¢Islandic Sagas,’ vol. ii. p. 147. London, 1887.
3 See Appendix.
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a significant coincidence that the diameter of this circular fort
is 140 feet, and that is said to have been the measure given
by an angel to St Patrick for the cashels or outer walls he
erected round his chapels.! But there are many place-names
of the same build and feature originating out of different
ideas. Rkos or Ros in Cymro-Celtic signifies a maor, as
Rhoscollen, the meadow of hazels; Rios-du, the black moor.
In the Cornwall dialect Ros signifies a valley; Rosvean, a
little valley; Roskilly, a wooded valley. Ros in Goidelic
signifies a promontory or isthmus—e.g., Rosscastle, Rossbegh,
the birchen peninsula. It is noteworthy that the lands of
Rossy, lie close to the island of Saint Braoch (Brioc) in
the South Esk near Montrose, while the lands nearest St
Brioc’s Church in Rothesay are designated Rosland. The
mainland of Orkney is called Hrossey (horse-isle). Rotiy
is a common prefix to place-names in Scotland, as, for
example, Rothy-brisbane, Rothy-norman, Rothie-may, &c.;
Rothus-holm (Orkney). Aberdeen has its Rother’s-toun.
Rudyi (Latin, Rothericus), was a very ancient name among
the Brythons, and we see it descending to the famous Rudr7,
whom we shall afterwards find claiming Bute from the Norse-
men as his “birthright.” There is nothing improbable in the
supposition that the fortress was called after him.

However, I would suggest some connection between this
compound place-name and the Zawthing or court, which
must have been held in Rothesay by the Norse colonists.
The fortress or Mofe of Rothesay may also have been the
Moot-stead or meeting-place of the court. According to the
writer of the °Statistical Account of Scone,’ the Moothill

1 Petrie, ‘Round Towers,’ p. 441.
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Prelistoric Inkabitants. 21

(or pastoral), then the Celts, and lastly, the Teutons.” Had
the relics of past ages not been ruthlessly obliterated, the
contents of mounds and graves cast away without being
described, and primitive implements thrown aside, it might
be otherwise. Still a few objects of interest survive, however,
to illustrate several of these peoples and periods. While we
may infer that the primitive race or races which held the soil
passed through the three different phases of civilisation,—
the hunting, the pastoral, and the agricultural—the work-
men who built this may be referred to so high an antiquity
as to warrant the earliest consideration of them at this
point.

The singular features and situation of the structure afford
a monument of a rude powerful paganism in retreat before
the irresistible force of a newer civilisation. For there is
a well-defined aim carried out in the form as well as in the
site selected. It is a massive circular wall from g to 10 feet
in thickness, composed of huge unhewn blocks of stones,
enclosing an oval space 33 feet 7 inches in the larger diameter,
and 31 feet in the smaller. The height of the wall still ranges
from 6 feet to 11 feet. A narrow doorway, 4 feet broad at
the entrance, and more contracted as it enters, pierces the
wall at the S.S.E. aspect. One of the stones forming this
entrance is 9 feet long and 2 feet thick. In structures of this
kind sometimes the entrance was also low, necessitating the
visitors to crawl in or stoop. Other huge stones, singly set
on end or built on each other, form a zigzag avenue up to the
door.

The inner surface of the wall (Plate II1.) displays remark-
able polygonal masonry, formed of large smooth-faced stones,
whose irregular joints and courses are neatly fitted into one
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the magnificent works in ancient Egypt, Greece, and Italy
of a similar character and construction.

The natives of Bute, in continuing to call it “ The Dreamin’
Tree Ruin,” preserve both its Celtic name and the memory
of an ancient superstition. The “Dreamin’ Tree” is no
other than the Celtic words Druim-en-tre, the little ridge-
dwelling ; while the custom itself is clearly a survival of
tree-worship practised by the same race who piled up the
Circus! Till very recently there flourished within its
area an ash (some say a fir) which was “ made for
happy lovers.” Standing together they plucked its leaves
and ate them, believing this act to produce pleasant dreams
wherein were revealed their intended spouses and true fates.
Latterly, the tree had to be climbed together to obtain the
prophetic philter so eagerly coveted.

Several weighty considerations deducible from relics of
language, remains of megalithic erections—popularly known
as Druidical temples and Pictish buildings—and stone imple-
ments, tend to prove that long before the Celtic people,
either Goidels or Brythons, occupied Britain and Ireland,
another great branch of the human family of non-Celtic
character had overrun Europe as far as Alban, carrying with
them an advanced knowledge of a practical rather than of
an intellectual type. Even Herodotus in his day does not
locate the Celts so far west as a tribe he names Kynetes,
or dog-men, whoever they were.

The so-called Turanian people (which is a convenient
name only for this particular type of people), as some eth-

Y Druim, Drom (Goidelic) 3 Dram: (Cym.-Cel.), a ridge; Z7e, 77¢f (Cym.-
Cel.), a dwelling. This fate-making tree, sacred to the pagan Goddess of Love,
gradually stripped of its summer glory, withered and died, within memory.
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assigning deities, who were formerly human, to visible objects
and places; were venerators of trees and sacred animals;
adored the sun and stars; had ideas of spiritual develop-
ment through the transmigration of souls; and sacrificed
even human beings to appease their deities. Religion of
this kind is similar in its main features to the Druidism
practised by the Gauls, and recalls the occult intimacy with
the deities in nature which the Caledonian Picts in Columba’s
time pretended to have. Their literature was only oral, and
their records were kept in very simple signs or symbols, and
consequently vanished. Their art was practical and even
beautiful, but conveyed the idea that the proof of physical
greatness was man’s highest attainment. Some survivals of
this primitive spirit long lingered in Bute and the West Coast.

There is a remarkable harmony in Irish ethnologic legends
in attributing an eastern origin to the primitive conquering
races in Ivernia or Erin., They variously trace to it succes-
sive migrations from Scythia, Egypt, Greece, through the
Mediterranean and Spain, through Gaul, or round by the
North Sea. Except in one particular, Bute is not much con-
cerned with these legends. But from the internal shiftings
of races and tribes in Erin, this general deduction may be
drawn ; that the aboriginal people, who were not Celtic, were
slowly cornered by the Goidels into north-cast Ireland, or
Uladh—7.e.,, Ulster—or forced into the Western islands and
Caledonia, whither their kinsmen in Britain were also driven.
The distinctive features, customs, and ideas of the conquered
race remained long after their mother-tongue gave place to
that of their conquerors, just as in Bute, families of pure Celtic
origin, whose parents spoke Gaelic fifty years ago, can only
speak English now.
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a cave designated “ The Piper’s Cave,” which the natives be-
lieved to be the opening to a subterranean passage through
Eenan Hill to Carnbaan or Achavulig (Ach-a-bhuilg), where
its exit was. Supernatural beings inhabited this dark retreat,
which no mortal dared enter. A bold piper essayed this for-
lorn-hope, and was heard by his friends gaily piping under-
ground until his slogan became hushed in the depths of the
mountain. As he passed under the hearthstone of Lenihall
farmhouse, he was heard lamenting that he had not a sword-
hand as well as two for his pipes, and he would have routed
the ogres and demons attacking him (“Da lamh air son a
Phiob agus lamh air son a chlaideamh.”). Then the music
ceased—for ever.

Within a short distance of the scene of this exploit is a
series of underground buildings, like huge cists, called Carn-
baan, which also require consideration hereafter.

When St Blaan, whose wacle, St Catan, and mother, Ertha,
were Dalaradian Picts, after being educated by SS. Comgall
and Kenneth, also Picts, returned to Bute, he brought with
him holy earth, which the tradition says he had transported
from Rome. As he carried his precious burden up from Port
Lughdach, through Glencallum, to the site of his chapel, the
“ rigwoodie,” to which the creels of earth were suspended,
from his neck, broke. He implored a native woman, then on
her way to the shore to collect “ moorach,” little shell-fish,
to assist him, only to meet a refusal, however. The irritated
saint replied to the disobliging dame :—

‘“An uair a theid thu do an traigh
Biodh am muir lan ann,”’—

z.¢., Whenever you go to the sea-shore may there be high tide.

And after his church was erected he broadened this curse by
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Generally speaking, the Goidelic branch of the Celtic tongue
(as a spoken tongue) has held the field in Bute not less than
thirteen hundred years, since the sons of Erc established
themselves in the West. Consequently, in every quarter, we
find a preponderance of purely Goidelic nomenclature, where
one might otherwise have expected to discover reminiscences
of a prehistoric people of a different race. The hill-tops, the
prominent ridges, the striking features of the land, the lochs,
the quarterings of the land, the villages, the churches, with a
few exceptions, have been designated by Goidelic descriptive
names. In other districts it is common to notice the traces
of a conquered people in the popular names which linger in
the memory in reference to places esteemed by the conquered
or despised by the victor. Here it is otherwise, although
there is great reason to suspect that many of the place-names
have an origin with the primitive folk who preceded both
Brython and Goidel in Bute. (See Map, frontispiece.)

The paucity of the Brythonic or Cymro - Celtic names,
together with the situations in which they are found, leads
me to infer that the first people—call them Picts, Cruithni, or
[vernians,—were driven out of the isle, northward, long before
the Dalriadic Scots or Goidels swarmed out of Ircland—ize.,
the fifth century. Or it might even be that the Brythons .
drove these Goidels west into Ireland, and that they after-
wards re-emigrated, like the Ivernians before them. Be that
as it may, I have afterwards to show (chapter v.) that there is
a reasonable ground for supposing that Pictish missionaries,
like Finnian, Faolan, Catan, Colman, and others — Irish
Picts—brought the Gospel specially to these primitive folk
in the West. And it was because broken families of them
lingered in the Western Isles and dales of the mainland that
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THE BRYTHONIC LANGUAGE is still represented by a few
names, which resisted the interference of the Goidelic in-
vaders of the land. The test-words of the Cymric language
are not all illustrated ; but of é7yz, a brow, we have a survival
in Barone Hill; of ger, a head (Goidelic, den or cenn), in
Penycahil ; and of #7e, a dwelling, in “ Druim-en-tre ruin” (cf.
Cymric, dram, a ridge), the circular building at Kilblaan.

If scholars are right in associating the name of the Cumbrae
Istes (Kymury-eyiar, Norse) with those Brythons called the
Cumbras, the Cumbri, or Kymry, who possessed Cumbria or
Cambria—a name which signified jfellow-countrymen, and was
applied to the scattered septs of the Brythons wherever found
—then Bute may retain a reminiscence of them in the district
called Cummermennoch, Cumer, maen (Cymric, min, men,
maen, a high rock ; ug/, high), the high brow of the hill of the
Kymry, which might apply either to the fort on Barone or
on Dunallunt, between which the district lies, or to the now
dismantled Cnoc-an-Coigreaich. In the ‘Saxon Chronicle’
we find Cumerland, Cumberiand, Cumbraland, for Cumbria.l

Llan, an enclosure, later the sacred enclosure or church, is
a Cymric word, apparently appearing in St Kruiskland's
Church, and in Plan (Cym.,, pew/, a marsh), the farm lying south
of St Blaan’s Church and above the marshy ground of
Bealach Dearg Bog. In Rothesay, Rosland, in the vicinity
of the church, may be connected with Cymric K/os or Ros, a
moor, and Zan, the church.

Ddl, a mecting-place, is probably found in Dunburgidale,
a fort; Ardroscadale, a fort; Birgidale.

There are several prefixes and suffixes almost identical in

L Cf, ¢Celtic Britain,” Rhys, p. 144.
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Bhlain, and others. On the farm of Greenan (grianan, a
sunny spot) the fields were named in Goidelic, until the last
generation, when English designations superseded them.
This is a very good example of the change which has
taken place :—

Blar-sgadan, battle-field of Misfortune (burial-cairns found

not far off).

Glas-trom, grey (blue or green) elder-tree.

Shan-tallon, seann, old ; talla, hall.

Cnapach, hilly, lumpy.

Reiliglas, 7¢ilzg, a burial-place—the green burial-place.

Reilig-nerget, burial-place of Nerget.

Reilig-vourkie, burial-place of Vourkie.

At what period the Goidels divided the isle into districts
(ceathramit) is not determined ; but of this division there are
traces in those place-names—Kerrycroy, Kerrymoran, Kerry-
neven, Kerrytonlia, Kerrylamont, Kerrymennoch, Kerryfern,
Kerrycrusach. The appearance of Lamont (Norse, lagamady,
law-man) in conjunction with Ker»y would signify a period
contemporary with the Norse possession for the origin of
that word.

The Goidels called the district occupied by a family or
tribe (Cine) a Twuatk. Each Tuath had a church, chief, and
poet.

The tribe (#7n¢) held the tribe-land, the arable part of
which was set off in shares to the free members of the tribe;
the pasture-land being grazed upon in common.

The Flaith or nobles of the tribe held the inheritance land
(Orba) as a personal possession, and under them were tribes-
men and stranger serfs. The Tuath was made up of Raths
or homesteads, each -surrounded by its carthen rampart.
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VIII. ScuLpTURED CROSSES: Rothesay Churchyard (Kilwhinleck?);
Rothesay Castle (St Brioc’s Church?); East Colmac
(Colman’s?); Inchmarnock (2); (Guthleik’s? and another).

IX. FINDS :—

Rude sione implements : arrow-heads, Loch Fad; flints, New Farm;
(flints in Cumbrae).

Polished stone implements: Ambrisbeg Hill (Lochend, Greenan,
Loch Greenan, lost).

Querns: Loch Fad; Kilblaan (2); Rothesay Castle; Barone Park;
Crossbeg (1891) ; Scalpsie (1891); Kingarth (1893).

Weapons : bronze swords, Upper Lubas; Ardroscadale.

Ornaments ¢ (undistinguishable) reputed tomb of St Blaan.

Vessels: craggans in Rothesay Castle ditch.

Rings: Plan Farm. (See fig., p. 82.)

Fillets: Plan Farm. (See fig., p. 82.)

Coins : Plan Farm.

“ Treasure-trove” : on shore opposite Millbank, Ascog.

DWELLINGS AND FORTS.—In prehistoric times the resi-
dences of the unsettled and uncivilised tribes were, like the
wigwams of the American Indians, or the huts formed of
branches and reeds by the Africans, of such an evanescent
and slim character as necessarily to have perished now.

Where natural caves, wave-worn in cliffs, or formed by pro-
jecting rocks, afforded places of shelter and concealment,
primitive men sought their first home. There exist a few
such on the rocky shores of Bute, which, even to this day, are
frequented by “tribes of the wandering foot.” But their
débris gives no indications of their prehistoric occupants.

The next form of habitations were pzzs, or shallow excava-
tions in the soil, of a round or oblong form, about 7 or 8 feet in
diameter, with a turf or earth ring round each of them, to sup-
port the slight roof-trees, covered with sods, heather, or rushes,
which kept out the wind and water. They were frequently
on slopes. A small aperture behind afforded entrance to the
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Thrace, whose descendants to this day live in houses perched
over the water.! It is in connection with the instructions of
the Persian king, Darius, to his general, Megabazus, in Thrace,
to clear out the P=onians.

“ Those who inhabit Lake Prasias itself were not at all subdued
by Megabazus. Yet he attempted to conquer those who live upon
the lake in dwellings contrived after this manner: planks fitted on
lofty piles are placed in the middle of the lake, with a narrow en-
trance from the main land by a single bridge. These piles that
support the planks all the citizens anciently placed there at the com-
mon charge ; but afterwards they established a law to the following
effect : whenever a man marries, for each wife he sinks three piles,
bringing wood from a mountain called Orbelus; but every man has
several wives. They live in the following manner: every man has
a hut on the planks, in which he dwells, with a trap-door closely
fitted in the planks, and leading down to the lake. They tie the
young children with a cord round the foot, fearing lest they should
fall into the lake beneath.

“To their horses and beasts of burden they give fish for fodder ;
of which there is such abundance, that when a man has opened his
trap-door he lets down an empty basket by a cord into the lake,
and after waiting a short time, draws it up full of fish.”

The excavations of these lacustrine abodes in Switzerland,
Ireland, and Scotland prove, by means of the stone imple-
ments exposed in them, that they have existed since the
Stone Age—there being found “ dug-outs,” or canoes from a
single bole, querns, hammer-stones, celts, whorls, bone tools,
and other primitive utensils,

These island refuges, however, have been utilised in com-
paratively recent times as strongholds in face of an invading
foe. In 1005 the great Irish hero, Brian Boroimhe, invaded

1 Bk. v. cap. xvi.
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been filled up to the surface of the water with moss or turf, and
covered over with shingle, or quarry rubbish, to form a floor. The
ground-plan was a triangle, with one point towards the shore, to
which it had been connected by a bridge or stage, some of the
piles of which are still to be traced. There is reason to believe
that the space between this building and the shore of the lake was
much deeper, or else was so soft as not to bear a person’s weight,
which it can scarcely do yet. The foundation was secured by
a bank about 6 or 8 feet broad, formed with small piles, filled up
with moss; and when the superstructure had decayed to the high-
water level, the gravel of the floor burst out and covered part of this
bank, which gave the islet its present shape. The water of the lake
is of a dark colour (as its name imports), owing to the bottom being
wholly moss, and this circumstance has prevented the decay of the
piles as high as the water reached, as they still continue in the state
of moss-oak, many trees of which are to be seen in the bottom of the
lake when the water is clear. This uncommon building was perhaps
the preforium of this extensive natural fortress, formed by a double
range of hills which seem anciently to have been covered with
wood.’

‘At the south end of the lake there are several large roots of
oak-trees still fixed on the ground where they grew : the stems had
decayed down to the roots, where they were about 3 feet in diameter,
and the roots were preserved by a coating of moss-earth.

“] revisited this islet in the summer of 1826, which was un-
commonly dry, and the water in that lake was consequently much
diminished. On that occasion I observed an extension of the fort
at the south-east corner, formed by small piles and a framework of
timbers laid across each other, in the manner of a raft. It seems
to have formed the foundation of some wooden erection which was
destroyed by fire, as the tops of the piles were charred ; those piles
(as well as the framework) were only about 4 inches in diameter.
I took out one of the larger piles of the original edifice, which
was 5 inches in diameter, and the point seems to have been cut
by a celt, or stone axe, as the cuts were hollow, or as it were
conchoidal.

“There is another insular fort in Loch Quein, which loch is
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Upper Ardroscadale Watchhill is in reality a burial-mound,
and as such is treated of elsewhere.

Dunallunt (No. 2).—The scanty remains of a circle, 8o feet
in diameter, composed of stones and earth, are visible on the
brow of a rocky ridge 50 yards above the road, direct west of
Largivrechtan farmhouse.

Dun Scalpsie (pronounced locally Scaupsay) is reared on a
bold precipitous rock overlooking the Bay of Scalpsie, and
having an aspect towards Carnahouston, the Dunstrone of
Lubas, Dunagoil, and other forts in Arran. It is also a dry-
built, irregular, circular structure, composed of the stones
lying at hand, some of which measure 3 feet by 2 feet. Some
parts of the wall are still 7% sétx, and the walls of the door-
way remain 4 feet high, being composed of large stones. In
the larger diameter, north and south, it measures 87 feet;
south and east only 77 feet. The internal diameter is 54 feet.
The walls vary in thickness,—on the south-east side about 9
feet ; north-west, at doorway, 14 feet 6 inches; north side,
where the stones are piled 5 feet high, the breadth appears to
have been 20 feet. The doorway piercing the wall at the
north-west is barely 7 feet at the outer entrance and 10 feet
at the inner. There is no appearance of wall-passages. The
south-east slope is defended by two fosses.

Avrdnahoe is an irregular oval plateau crowning a high con-
glomerate rock facing Scalpsie Bay, and measuring about one
quarter of an acre. On the land side it has been defended by
a substantial rampart, 126 feet long, semi-oval in form, and
composed of earth and stones, few of the latter remaining.

Carnakhouston, on the confines of the farms of Ambrismore
and Ardnahoe, was formerly a stone fort raised on the plateau
overlooking Scalpsie Bay, and opposite Dun Scalpsie. All
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Castle Cree is a remarkable stronghold perched upon a
huge clay-slate rock, almost perpendicular on three sides,
which rises 5o feet above a meadow close to the west shore
of Bute upon the farm of Upper Ardroscadale. On the fourth
side the rock is separated from the high ridge east of it by a
deep natural fosse, not exhibited in the following illustration.
The top of the rock slopes to the west, and round a large
portion of its rugged irregular brow the walls of the fortifica-
tion have been deftly built, wherever a foundation was secure,

so as to include as much free space on the crest as possible,

TR
\ \\\mzluy i, /’/’//’ L
« \\\\w MOS0ty
\

o i e
P \\\\
ll i s W

Ground-plan of Castle Cree.

A view of this almost heart-shaped site leads me to suppose
that the configuration of the ground suggested a name for the
castle,—Crid/e, which is pronounced Cree, being the Gaelic
for a heart. Parts of the walls are thrown into confused
heaps, but at the eastern apex (the easiest assailed portion)
the building is quite entire, and gives proof of the immense
strength of the fort, that section of wall being over 20 feet
thick. Here, within, three portions of the wall still stand,
to the height of 4 or 5 feet, being substantially built of
moderate-sized stones cleft from the adjoining rocks,—ap-
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10 to 12 feet. While the greater part of it is dismantled, a
good specimen of it is afforded on the south-east side, where
the massive stones remain 7z sitx to the height of over 3 feet,
and give indication of an attempt to vitrify them. The steep
rocky ascent on the northern face rendered a wall so heavy
less necessary, and in consequence the foundation of it there
is less distinct.

An outer defensive wall, of no less massive proportions, had
been thrown round the fort in the shape of a lozenge, so as to
completely utilise the natural strategic position of the rocky
summit.

To this secure retreat, as afterwards falls to be narrated,
the burgesses of Rothesay and their families fled in times
of hazard.

Dunburgidale (Dun, Goidelic, a hill-fort ; Burg, Teutonic, a
fortified place; Dd/, Cymric, a folk-mote, or Daz/, Goidelic, a
valley).—This compound word gives traces of the successive
occupants of the stronghold—Brythons, Goidels, and North-
men. It is a circular stone fort situated in a hollow on the
ridge of hills overlooking the valley of North Bute and the
Bay of Rothesay. It lies above Acholter farm. It occupies
a naturally round rock with steep grassy approaches, and is
in view of other forts on the island and mainland. There are
no outer defences. The walls are dry-stone, built with the
material scattered in the vicinity, but are much thrown down,
without, however, destroying the outline of the fort. The
stones are not larger than those used in ordinary dykes.
On the north side a portion of the wall, 6 feet high, is still in
good condition. The N. and S, diameter is go feet; E. and
W. 93 ; the inner 67. The walls measure from 10 to 14 fect
thick, and are tunnelled on the west side by a passage 2 feet 3
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the walls are still ¢7 sifu, and seem only to have been about
4 feet thick, but in places are built to the edge of the rock.
Traces of small houses or built-retreats are visible within the
wall: to obtain a proper estimate of the fort an excavation is
necessary. On the west or land side of the island, where the
natural defences are weakest, two very strong parallel walls,
composed of huge stones, run southward for over 100 yards.
Across the middle of the island another strong wall is seen,
meeting a wall running south on the east side. These enclo-
sures bear signs of cultivation in former times. According to
the Ordnance Survey a quern and arrow-heads were found on
this spot. A little west of the fort is the stance of a steading
overshadowed by three old sycamore-trees, which Dr Maclea
in his Visiting Book for 1774 marks as “ Baileanloine waste ”
and tenantless.

Dunagoil Fort—The south-west point of Bute is a very
rugged and precipitous ridge of porphyritic trap running
parallel to the coast-line, N.N.W,, and, at that part called
Dunagoil, terminating in a small grass-grown plateau,
rising above the sea 100 feet, and on three sides quite
inaccessible.

On the north a face of perpendicular rock, columnar in
formation, sinks into a little grassy dale,— once enclosed
with walls,—wherein remain two cairns and two prehistoric
graves, opened and found to contain human remains in the
beginning of this century.! The westerly front drops sheer
down upon the rough coast-land. The side extending to
the S.S.E. is more of a rocky slope stretching downward

1 Blain’s ¢ History of Bute,’ p. 78.
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rocks and such débris of the fused wall as has not rolled into
the hollow beneath.

The form of the crest within the fort is seen from the
accompanying plan. (See Plate VI.)! A rich dark soil
covers the crest, and in the scooped-out stances of former
dwelling-places nettles grow in wild profusion.

The wall itself, laid down in the shape of a bow, measures
285 feet in length, and generally speaking is 6 feet in thick-
ness,—the greatest height of any part remaining being a little
over 4 feet. This wall is built of the stone of which the rocky
site is composed, and a few gathered stones. Some of the
blocks in the wall measure over 2 feet long. Some of them
bear no trace of fire-action, others are reddened, many are
reduced to scoriz or slag, while the remainder are roasted,
glazed, or fused singly, or bound into solid masses through-
out the line of the wall. At the south-west side, where the
doorway is, the remanent stones have least felt the fierce
fires of the vitrifying builder ; but below this portion, on the
slope, are scattered the roasted lumps of vitrescible matter
defying disintegration.

The most intact part of the wall, at the western extremity,
is not vitrified through and through, but the fused part juts
into the loose masonry which forms a backing to it—the
vitreous stream having run into the interstices of the dry-
built wall to form holdfasts, or simply penetrating like a
wedge. Consequently when the front face is undermined, by
the weather eating away the mould, or cattle displacing it,
the vitrified blocks above being left to rest on movable foun-
dations, are easily detached, and by their centres of gravity

1 By Mr James Kay, forester to the Marquess of Bute.
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wall 3 feet 6 inches broad, the stones of which have also been
subjected to fire, however without being fused. These stones
resemble in size those used in ordinary dyke-building. The
interstices between them are now filled with earth. I observe
in the Eilean Buidhe Fort (see below) a similar proof that
the vitrifaction is greatest exactly at those points where
the strongest wind—in this instance the south-east wind, by
the reason of the situation of the hills, blown up the Kyles as
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West View of Vitrified Wall at Dunagoil.

(Traced from a photograph. The under portion represents grass-grown rock.)

through the nozzle of a bellows—impinged upon the wall ; an
observation which may also account for the imperfect fusion
of parts of the structure.

Eilean Buidhe (the yellow isle), one of the Burnt Islands,
lies to the north of Bute in the Kyles of Bute, and is crowned
with the remains of a vitrified fort. The islet, composed of
gneiss, is 21 feet above sea-level, and covered with scanty
vegetation upon the summit only. The fort is a complete
circle, 67 feet in diameter from crest to crest of the ruined
wall, which in many parts is quite levelled and overgrown
with rough grass, through which the fragments of the vitrified
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Bicker’s Houses. It stands, as figured here, on a bracken-
covered mound among a congeries of stones of all sizes, like
the rubbish-heap of a quarry, which, despite the confusion in
which they lie, indicate they have been formerly used in some
strong edifices. At one part it seems as if there had been a
wall not less than 8 feet thick, at another about 4 feet. In
the southern foreground a rifled sepulchral cist, 3 feet 6 inches
long and 2 feet broad, is found. The table-stone itself is a
rugged oval, now resting on the western point of its longer

View of Dolmen at Bicker’s Houses.

diameter, which measures 7 feet, with 6 feet for the shorter.
It is a huge flake of the slate-rock cropping up around, and is
21 inches thick. The stone which now supports it is 42
inches long, 28 inches broad, and 24 inches thick. Close by
are the silent ruins of human habitations, beside the sheep-
folds constructed of the stones so conveniently gathered by
the men of a past age, who then largely populated this retired
quarter. The fort on the hill-crest was their warlike work.
Memorial Stones (Celt., menhir—maen, a stone; kir, long.
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erate substance, 5 feet long by 3 feet 3 inches wide and about 6
inches thick, It must have been brought from the sea-shore, about
a quarter-mile distant. It rested upon six weather-worn flattish
stones set upon their ends—two at the head, two at the feet, and
one at each side. Although the actual receptacle for the corpse
was thus not entirely defended, it was very partially filled. When
I looked in at first it appeared to be about three-quarters filled with
sea-worn pebbles and sand. At the north-east corner appeared one-
half of a funeral urn, which had fallen over eastward, and towards
the south-west corner the face and left brow of the skull. We care-
fully removed the urn. There
was nothing in it but pebbles
and sand and a small piece of
cinder. We then took away
the large covering-stone and
endeavoured to move the body,
but hardly anything remained
of it, and what there was came
to pieces in our hands. The
teeth are very fine, You will
notice a peculiar perforation in
the left temple, which I opine
may mark the place of the
wound by which the deceased Cinerary Urn found at Mountstuart.
was killed. Close to this per-

foration is some hard black adherent matter which I do not under-
stand. The head lay on its right cheek, looking eastwards, or rather
turned eastwards, and looking a little upwards. At this end the grave
was filled with sand and pebbles, in which I am inclined to think the
head had been purposely pillowed and partially embedded. The
grave itself measures internally about 4 feet 2 inches by about 18
inches wide. The corpse had lain upon a prepared floor of sea-
pebbles, sand, and gravel. There were one or two pieces of
something burned under the upper part. It had been curled up,
the thigh and shin bones being very close together. The remains
of the decomposed bones were adhering to a great many of the
pebbles with which the grave was nearly filled. Near the feet and
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perforated triangular piece of jet. The large stone on the east side,
which lay almost in the lap of the corpse, may, I think, have been
pushed forward in process of time by the pressure above and
behind.” !

At a meeting of the Society of Antiquaries, held on 14th
December 1891, Dr Munro, the secretary, read a paper upon
these remains, which he referred to the early Bronze Age :—

“The bones having been submitted to Dr Beddoe, he gave it as
his opinion that they were those of a young woman, The skull has
a small perforation on the left side of the frontal bone about an inch
from the outer angle of the eye-orbit. The exterior edge of the
cavity, which measures about an inch in diameter, is slightly raised

Trepanned Skull found at Mountstuart.

above the normal surface of the surrounding bone, this feature being
the result of a pathological process which could only take place in
the living body. The actual perforation, which does not exceed
three-quarters of an inch in diameter, takes the form of a bluntly
defined triangle bounded by thin edges. The conclusion is that
this perforation had been intentionally performed on the living

1 ¢ Glasgow Herald,” March 25, 1887.
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Tumuli, or mounds of earth, or cairns of stones covered
with earth,—a few in number,—remain undisturbed by the
ruthless ploughshare, and still possessing their hidden con-
tents. These represent labour, and as only the influential and
mighty could command this, we may conclude that all these
mounds and cairns cover a popular personage, or a leader of
men, in

‘A little urn—a little dust inside,
Which once outbalanced the large earth, albeit
To-day a four-years’ child might carry it.”

These tumuli are tabulated at the beginning of this chapter.

There are several important monuments of a prehistoric
age which might with propriety be referred to the earliest
epoch, including the stone cells at Lenihuline, as well as the
stone circles at Blackpark-Kingarth and Colmac, all of which
give proof of the dexterity of the aborigines in handling huge
blocks.

Carnbaan, or white cairn, is one of the most remarkable
relics of a bygone age which exist in Bute. It is to be found
in the south-east corner of South Lenihuline Wood, close to
the stream. We are indebted to Mr Blain (pp. 100, 101) for
a long description of it, as it appeared at the beginning of

this century, in these terms:—

“A pile of stones thrown together in a rude manner along the
surface of the ground in the form of a cross, the body whereof has
been about 168 feet long by about 15 in width, and the transverse
about 75 feet or thereabout. Of this last little now remains, as the
fence of the wood has been cut alongst it, and the most of the
stones of which it was composed carried off to help in facing up the
enclosure there, and in its neighbourhood. The shaft of the cross
was all along formed below into cavities or chests by the placing of
large broad stones at the sides, end, and bottom of each, or where
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outline being defined by a line of small débrss. At the west end of
the stem of the cross there is a cell, 4 feet 6 inches long by 2 feet
3 inches wide and 3 feet deep, the top, sides, and ends of which
are formed of flags of schistus. The country-people believed that
there was a series of such cells all along the body of the cross;
and in order to ascertain this point I took a labourer with me in
summer 1833, and opened up the top of the mound all along at
short intervals, and found that the whole of the mound was com-
posed of shapeless lumps of wacken, schistus, and quartz, about the
size of a man’s head, and apparently brought from the channel of the
burn at the bottom of the bank on which it is placed ; and I could
find no trace of any cells, or any flags capable of making them,
except one or two near the intersection of the cross, where it is said
that a cell or cells were found at the time the east end was removed.

“It may be inferred, from its being made in the form of a cross,
that it was constructed after the introduction of Christianity, as a
penance for some grievous offence; and that the cell at the west
end, which the top flag only partially covered, leaving an opening
wide enough to let a man creep in, was a place of penance, in
which the offender might crouch while reciting his penitential
prayers. At least this cairn does not seem capable of being used
for any other purpose.” !

The writer here refers to the Borras or Borradhs in Kilfinan,
as explained in the ¢ Statistical Account,’ vol. xiv. p. 257.

I am able, after several inspections of the cairn, to supple-
ment and correct these details.

The cairn is now a long congeries of moss and grass grown
stones, broken from the slate-rock cropping upin the vicinity,
and extends within the wood 163 feet, varying in breadth
from 15 feet to 19 feet over its irregular ridge, and 5 feet
high. The Ordnance surveyors make the cairn terminate in a
circular mound within the fence, which, as Blain states, severed

1 ¢Description of a Cairn on the Island of Bute.” By John Mackinlay, Esq.,
F.S.A. Scot. Read 13th December 1858. ¢Proc. Soc. Ant,” vol. iii. p. 180-182.












M onuments of Unrecorded Times. 79

7 feet. The middle stone, as shown in the illustration, is split
into two halves. I have been informed by an aged lady,
lately deceased, that in the beginning of this century one of

View of Stone Circle at Blackpark, Kingarth.

the stones rocked. There is a small excavation in the middle
of this circle, the object of which is not ascertained.

We may say of these stones what Matthew Arnold says of
“the giant stones of Carnac” :—

“No priestly stern procession now
Moves through their rows of pillars old ;
No victims bleed, no Druids bow—
Sheep make the daisied isles their fold.

From bush to bush the cuckoo flies,
The orchis red gleams everywhere;
Gold furze with broom in blossom vies,
The blue-bells perfume all the air.”
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taught righteousness to the whole world, and having come to the
Limit of the West, and borne witness before the rulers. Thus he
was freed from the world, and went into the holy place, having
shown himself a pre-eminent example of endurance.”?

The mystery shrouding St Paul’'s movements does not per-
mit any emphatic belief that he ever reached Spain, or in
Cadiz, that famous emporium for traders, planted a church
out of which pioneers might have ventured with the merchants
to Ireland. The beautiful story of the friend of St Paul? and
the poet Martial, Pudens, marrying in Rome the graceful
Claudia Rufina, “sprung from the painted Britons,” and of
the return of her father Caractacus, as a Christian, in 58 A.D.
to rule over Siluria, and to become the British ancestor of
the first Christian emperor, Constantine the Great, is even
doubtful.

The likeliest channel for the transmission of the Gospel was
through the Roman armies or the energetic merchants who
profited by their victorious advances. It must not be over-
looked, however, that the Pentecostal power of the first Church
was not suddenly and without results obliterated, and who
can say how far it reached? According to Tertullian, it pene-
trated where never a Roman blade caused fear.

By the end of the first century the Romans were well ac-
quainted with the coasts of Britain, their coins of date 70 A.D.
having been found also in Ireland. Agricola himself made a
flying visit to see the situation of the Western Isles. So what
men of war achieved was equally easy for men moved by the
Spirit of God. Indeed an Irish tradition maintained that

1 Ep. 1 ad Cor. 5 (Lightfoot’s ¢ Epistles of Clement,’ pp. 46-52).
2 Some say Pudens was half-brother of St Paul.
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absent. Water poured through the crazy frame so as to
imperil his safety. The ingenious youth applied the staff
to stop a hole, when instantly the danger ceased, the waters
quelled, and the boat made headway ; for the staff acted as
mast, sail, and rudder, and then as anchor, when the boat
came safely ashore. The astonished truant wisely betook
himself to prayer, and the staff, which he had driven into
the earth, grew into a tree, beside which arose a living spring
of water. In gratitude he reared a memorial chapel there,
which he dedicated to his teacher. This myth evidently
arose out of an allegory intended to suit the ideas of a
marine people, who associated with it a story of a gospel-
voyager’s escape, and the custom of planting the church
near spots and objects worshipped by the heathen—wells
especially.

A ruined chapel and well dedicated to St Ninian are pre-
served on the Isle of Sanda; and on St Ninian’s Point, Bute,
the ruins of an antique church, near which a never-failing
well is found, are memorials of the mission of the saint in the
west. The simplicity of the latter edifice suggests that it
is coeval with Ninian. The stone church, erected by Ninian
and named after his uncle, Bishop Martin, stood on a small
peninsula known as the Isle of Whithorn.

Similarly this one stands on a narrow promontory, called
St Ninian’s Point, on the west coast of Bute and on the
northern shore of St Ninian’s Bay. On the occasion of very
high tides or wild storms this promontory is turned into an
islet, like Lindisfarne and St Ninian’s Isle, Dunrossness.

The walls still standing, about 2 feet high, show a rect-
angular building, composed of small rough flat stones
gathered on the rocky shore, and compactly bound by red
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to obtain material for a garden wall, a few years ago, a man
discovered human bones, and happily desisted from further
desecration of the sacred spot.

About 50 yards beyond the enclosure, and but a few feet
above tide-mark, a modern crystal well proffers its cool re-
freshment ; but no tree lives to memorialise the miracle of
him whom Sir David Lyndsay styled “ Sanct Ringan of
ane rottin stoke.”

No history attaches to the church, and we can only con-
jecture that Ninian himself reared it. It was in the zone of
his immediate missionary influence, and it is very improbable
that the Goidelic abbots and bishops, before or after Columba,
would there dedicate a church to the Brytho-Pictish teacher.
In 400 A.D. Bute-men may still have been the primitive
Ivernians, with or without a mixture of the Brythons from
Strathclyde. In Bute traces of the Brython people are not
so numerous as those of the Goidels. But doubtless the
Cumbras, Cumbri, or Kymry overran Bute as well as the
Cumbraes, leaving their language impressed in place-names,
such as Barone Hill, Cummermenoch, Plan, St Cruiskland,
Penycachil, and others, as mentioned in the second chapter.

Wherever these Kymry, or countrymen of Ninian, were
settled, Christianity would be propagated. So we may look
upon St Ninian’s Church as the outcome in the west of the
vitality of the early British Church in the fifth century.

After converting the Southern Pictish kingdom to Christ, St
Ninian retired to his White House to die, and the 16th of
September 432 A.D. is accepted as the day of his death. An
Irish Life, cited by Archbishop Usher, records that he departed
life in a monastery he had founded at Cluayn-coner, now
Cloncurry, in Kildare,
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atrous kinsmen. He built at least one church, and educated
several disciples in Britain. Brieuc is also numbered among
a famous band of Celtic teachers who issued from the monas-
tery of Iltut, at Llan-Illtyd in Wales, and on the pressure of
the Saxon invasions crossed the sea to Brittany. This makes
him contemporary with Germanus of Paris, however, and
renders it difficult to date his career. In Armorica he founded
the famous monastery and church in the town which still
bears his name, Brieux, which was instituted into a bishopric
in 844 by the Pope. The medieval chroniclers adorn his life
with many miracles. He died about the year 500 in his nine-
tieth year. The hagiologists assign the 1st of May for his
festival.

According to Gildas the historian, it was the joy of the
Britons to plough the seas, and there is nothing improbable
in the supposition that Brieuc visited the northern Church to
fan into life the flickering embers left on the altar of St Mar-
tin’s, at Whithern. This visit would naturally explain why
the church of the ancient parish of Dunrod, on the shore of
Wigton Bay, opposite Whithorn, bore a double dedication to
St Mary and St Bruoc. A similar association distinguishes
the parish church of Rothesay. As has already been pointed
out in Chaptei‘ I. p. 16, Rothesay church was called by the
inhabitants, last century, “Cilla’bhruic,” and the parish
“Sgireachd Bhruic.” The ruined chancel, or chapel, in the
churchyard, is now called St Mary’s chapel or church. This
structure is usually assigned to the thirteenth ce;1tury, but
the lower portions of the walls bear evidence of a remoter
antiquity.

Before the old parish church was removed in 1692, Timothy
Pont noted “Lady Kirck” on his map. The Chronicle of
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instituted by charter of James VI.in 1584-85.! The author
of the ¢ Statistical Account’ of Rothesay, the Rev. Robert
Craig, made a more egregious blunder in asserting that
“¢Cilla Bhruic,’ said by him [Dr Maclea] to be the name given
to that church by the Highlanders, is no better than a 7ick-
name, there being no such saint in the Romish Callendar.” 2
The charter in question, however, appoints two fairs to be
held, on the 22d day of July and the 23d day of October, an-
nually, without mentioning either as Bruix Day. Scepticism,
as well as faith, must be reasonable. It was customary in the
Celtic Church to assign more than one day for the commemo-
ration of a great saint. For example, for Finnian of Clonard
three days were marked in the calendar. The tradition of
the natives, and the recorded opinion of the gifted Gael, Dr
Maclea, are not unharmonious with the checkered history of
the primitive Church. At St Breock, Cornwall, the parish
fair is held on the 1st day of May. A little church dedicated
to Brieuc stood on the island of Inchbraoch, in the South
Esk, necar Montrose. From the ‘Register of Aberdeen’ it
appears that in 1328, when witnessing a charter regarding the
adjoining lands of Rossy, John de Cadiou designates himself,
“ Rector insule Sancti Braoch:.”

The parish of Craig, in Forfarshire, is made up of the two
old parishes of Inchbrayoch or Craig, and St Skeoch (Skaa
or Skay) or Dunninald (Doninad). The church of St Skay
stood on a cliff overlooking the mouth of the South Esk.
Rothesay also has its Skeochwood, without a clerical dedi-
cation. It is a remarkable coincidence.

1 ¢Proc. Soc. Antiq.,” vol. ii. p. 466. Edin., 1859.
2 ¢ The Statistical Account of Buteshire,” p. 102. Edin., 184I.
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Glossary of Place-names, appended to Blain’s ¢ History’ (p.
445), Kilwhinleck is interpreted to mean “ Cillchumhangleag
—~Cell of the narrow flag or stone.” (Other forms of the
name are Brythonic, Kélguhenlik, Kilguhandy. The Goideli-
cised form is (1440) Kilconlick, Kilfeenleac.) Tradition points
out the spot where the chapel stood beside the original farm-
steading. Nothing of it remains, not even the font which lay
there neglected till within living memory. The lovely site,
about two miles from St Ninian’s Church, is in a district
specially reminiscent of Irish history, where the Neills long
held sway over the Mac-gill-chiarans and others, beside Kil-
keran and Kilmorie. But Dr Maclea’s derivation is not
satisfactory, if for no other reason than this, that Celtic
churches bore a founder or a patron’s name, while the idea
under “cell” is misleading. Who then planted Kil-quhin-
leck ?

When it is recollected that Gw in Welsh corresponds to /#
in Gaelic, the transformation of the name of Finan into Wynnin
by the Brythons in Bute, as in Kilwinning, is seen to be easy.
Some pronounce it Kil-feen-leag, which induces the suggest-
ion that the name memorialises “the stone church of Finan
or Wynnin,” or the “church of the flagstone of Finan.” In
the early Irish Church the slab, lac, on which the patron
saint was born, or slept, or under which he lay buried, was
held in reverence, and pointed out in the church dedicated to
him. In pre-Reformation times Rothesay parish was attached
to Kilwinning Abbey, and till 1639 was included in the Pres-
bytery of Irvine! A family called “Makgylquhynnych,”

1 ¢¢ Carta to the Abbacy of Kilwinning, of the advocation of the Kirk of Rosay,
by James Stewart, grandson to the king (Z.z., Robert III.).”—Robertson’s ¢ Index,’
p. 140, No. 42.
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of very many priests and teachers, who disseminated the
Gospel far and wide.

After sixty years of missionary enterprise, he died, it is
said, on the 17th March 463, aged ninety years, and was
buried in Downpatrick.

The phenomenal reverence in which St Patrick’s memory
was held in early Ireland and Caledonia can scarcely be
sufficiently appraised now, and this affection was expressed
in the phrase, “Sanctus Patricius Papa noster,” and in the
custom of naming churches and wells after the saint.
Whether in Alban this originated in the personal intercourse
of the saint— Manxmen declared Patrick was their first
preacher—or in the gratitude of pupils, cannot be ascertained.
The inhabitants of Muthil until very lately (Z.e., about 1833)
held St Patrick’s name in so high veneration, that on his day
“neither the clap of the mill was heard nor the plough seen
to move on the furrow.” !

His power in Erin was even more commanding. He cast
a spell over the land, till his disciples, with “a roving com-
mission” to carry the Gospel, swarmed everywhere. The
fame of St Patrick penetrated to the East as well, and crowds
of foreign ecclesiastics—Egyptians, Romans, Gauls, Britons,
Saxons—came to Erin to be taught by him or his disciples.

Without a doubt these preaching pilgrims, men and
women, were borne, in the fifth century, over the Irish
Channel along with the hordes of marauders—* Hibernici
Grassatores "—who were colonising the Western Isles. It
was their mission to the pagan islesmen. It was congenial
work for kinsmen, too.

1 ¢New Stat. Acc.,’ Perth, p. 313.
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preacher is somewhat difﬁcult, some considering him to be
Mahew of Kilmahew. He may have been no other than the
Pictish youth Mochoe or Mochay, of Dalaradia, whom Patrick
educated to the priesthood and saw settled as the Abbot and
Bishop of Antrim, who died 23d June 497.

The Antrim families who colonised the west coasts may
have carried his cult here, there being no more feasible reason
for the local reverence shown to him. The once powerful
family of Maccaws of Garrachty bear a name not unlike
that of this forgotten bishop. No trace of his residence
survives, however. ‘

The rapid spread of Christianity after the time of St
Patrick renders it credible that his disciples migrated even
to the remotest isles in our northern archipelago, where they
erected those primitive cells whose ruins are yet to be found
in unlooked-for places. What authority Dempster had for
numbering Machilla among these voyagers is not implicitly
reliable. Under October 4 of the Calendar he gives: “In
Bute [the festival] of St Machilla, who veiled St Brigid ;” and
again, under February 1, “In Scotia [the festival] of Brigid
the Virgin, who, having been deceived by an earthly spouse,
took the veil of virginity, in the Scottish Hebrides Isles, from
St Machilla, in whose testimony the dry wood of the altar,
on her touch, became green again.”

Camerarius, without mentioning Bute, assigns the gth of
October to Mathilla.

There is evidence in Dempster’s statement of a confound-
ing of two bishops, Maccaldus of Man and Maccaleus of
Cruachan Brigh-eile, and of a too ready acceptance of irre-
concilable traditions. The bishop who veiled St Brigid at
Usny Hill (Westmeath) was Maccaille, the son of Caille or
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worship down to the period of the Reformation, reference
will be made in connection with the Roman Church in a
succeeding chapter.

This romantic virgin, St Brigid, was a Ulidian by birth,
being a native of Fochard, near Dundalk, about the year 453.
From her youth, under the influence of the Church organised
by Patrick, she increased her reputation for sanctity and holy
works, so that her fame was wellnigh equal that of the apostle
of the Irish. As stated before, she was consecrated by
Bishop Maccaile, and gathered round her crowds of virgins
and widows for Christian education. The establishments
she founded were subsequently governed by bishops under
a regular rule. Her famous community at Kildare, founded
in 490, became an influential colony in a prosperous town,
richly endowed on behalf of her pupils and the poor. Among
her more distinguished contemporaries, and also pupils, was
St Brendan the Voyager, who went to St Brigid in search
of instruction. St Brigid’s nuns spread over Ireland and
Scotland, and their cells and churches were affiliated with
the mother-house. So great was the honour in which she
was held that she was known as “the second Mary” and the
“Mary of the Irish,” and both Marys were invoked in prayer
for protection. She died in the year 523. It is natural, then,
to suppose that the Scots, who were then firmly established
in the Western Isles, had carried her cult with them ; and her
pupils, following the track of the Ulidians into Pictland,
founded the establishment at Abernethy, where her relics
were preserved, perhaps setting up on their march the
many chapels which bore the name of Kilbride. Dr Mac-
pherson even associates her name with the name of the
Hebrides Isles.
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.acknowledged any delegation of authority from the Roman
See, or considered itself absolutely independent, as it would
be for an intelligent Englishman to conclude whether or not
those remote parishes to which the General Assembly has
occasion to send commissions are connected with the Church
of Scotland, whose edicts are not observed within their pro-
vince. No British liturgy exists; the Irish liturgy can only
be guessed at from fragments of it preserved in early books.

We are dependent upon ‘ The Tripartite Life of ‘St Patrick’
for definite information regarding the teaching and modes
of worship in the Church in his day. It is clear the early
teachers faithfully maintained the Holy Scriptures as the
rule of faith, and used the version of the Bible prepared by
St Jerome. There are substantial reasons for believing that
they also possessed a vernacular version, if not of all, of some
of the books of the Bible, the Greek portions of which were
studied by the more famous evangelists, like St Brendan. A
liturgy was also used, and from surviving fragments it appears
to have been related to the “ Ephesine” rather than to the
“Petrine ” family of liturgies—that is to say, it was different
from the Roman, and if not identical with the Gallican liturgy
was similar to it.!

Of the coequality of the Trinity they had no doubt. In
¢The Tripartite Life,” Baptism and the Eucharist are men-
tioned as Sacraments, but Penance, Marriage, Holy Orders,
and Extreme Unction are not referred to as Sacraments;
while Confirmation, if not accepted as of divine institution,
was esteemed to have an imperative importance. There is
only a slight trace of the honours paid to the Virgin Mary in

! ¢The Liturgy and Ritual of the Celtic Church.” F. E. Warren. Oxford, 1881.
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was the result of an imitative contagion spread from the
far East, it is not necessary here to inquire. Enough it is
to know that the same features which distinguished the
customs of the Anchorites in Syria were illustrated in Ire-
land, and the Celtic hermits abandoned themselves to a
severely solitary life, to be quit of the restraints of our com-
mon lot. They formed a third class of saints, according to
a very ancient catalogue disinterred by Archbishop Usher.

“ CATALOGUE OF THE SAINTS IN IRELAND ACCORDING TO THE
DirFERENT TIMES IN WHICH THEY FLOURISHED.

“The First Order was in the time of St Patrick. They were all
then great and holy bishops filled with the Holy Ghost, 350 in
number, the founders of churches, worshipping one head-—namely,
Christ ; following one leader, Patrick ; and having one tonsure and
one celebration of Mass and one Easter, which they celebrated after
the vernal equinox ; and what was excommunicated by one Church,
all excommunicated. They did not reject the service and society
of females, because, founded on Christ the Rock, they feared not
the wind of temptation. This order flourished during four reigns
—that is, during the reign of Lzeghaire, son of Niall (a.p. 432), who
reigned thirty-seven years, and of Ailill Molt, who reigned thirty
years, and of Lugaid, who reigned seven years. And this order
continued to the last years of Tuathal Maelgarbh (a.D. 543). They
all continued holy bishops, and they were chiefly Franks and
Romans, and Britons and Scots by birth.

“The Second Order of Saints was as follows. In the Second
Order there were few bishops, but many priests—in number 3oo0.
Whilst worshipping God as their one head, they had different rites
for celebrating, and different rules of living; they celebrated one
Easter on the 14th moon; they had a uniform tonsure, vide/ice?,
from ear to ear. They shunned the society and services of women,
and excluded them from their monasteries. This order also flourished
during four reigns—*.e.; during the last years of Tuathal Maclgarbh,
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to visit my pupil” The narrative tells how, after a three
days’ voyage, master met pupil, accompanied by his brethren
in the work of the Gospel. Their habitation was spacious.
Their food was apples, nuts, roots, and herbs. Mernocatus
then embarked with Barinthus to exploit a lovely land—*the
land of the promise of the saints,” he called it—lying to the
east, bathed in light, rich in fruitage, gay with flowers, and
glistering with precious stones: Christ was its light alone,
and it lay open for the inheritance of His saints, some of
whom were already in possession to greet the visitors.

After a stay of forty days, in which they were nourished
by no earthly food, the explorers returned to Mernock’s isle,
to be welcomed by their brethren, who recognised from the
fragrance of their garments that the voyagers had been
lingering in Paradise.

On hearing of this singular experience, St Brendan, with
whetted curiosity, determined also to set out in search of this
promised land, so that the flight of Mernoc was the origin of
the many strange quests in early and in medieval times for
the Isles of the Blest. Mernan’s name is fixed in Ardmar-
nock, Tighnabruaich, and in Kilmarnock near Toward, Cowal.
In Kilbarron, the church of Barinthus near Tralee, we find
a word very like Barone Hill.

The scene of the legendary exploits of St Brendan is, with-
out doubt, laid in the western seas from Brittany to Orkney,
and, though often confused, the local character of the wild
isles in the Caledonian sea cannot be mistaken. If, with one
MS., we read for Lapiflis, “ montem I;apidis ”—the mountain
of stone—we could locate the isle at Ailsa Craig, or “ Paddy’s
Milestone,” a landmark to guide the mariner to the “delicious
isle” of Inchmarnock, which, always fertile, was formerly
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and drop unseen in the forest, so has evanished the hermit of
the Inch. He must have undertaken his pilgrimage before
530 A.D., when St Brendan began his wanderings, as Kessog,
the hermit of Luss, did out of the same province of Munster.

The only visible remains of this interesting settlement are
the extra verdant turf of the cemetery, now converted into
a stack-yard, and a single slab or cross-shaft carved with
three small crosses on one face, and a larger cross on the
reverse. A few of the ancient cists still lie under ground
unmolested. The churchyard, which had attained no small
repute “in the isles around,” continued to be used within the
memory of the last generation. Another graveyard known
as “The Women’s Burial-place” was traceable in a field
adjoining the church about thirty years ago.

The church existed into the eighteenth century. The
stones of it were sacrilegiously applied to build the adjoining
farmhouse ; but the tenant, Alexander M‘Donald, afraid or
conscience - struck, wrote the Rev. Dugald Stewart, parish
minister of Rothesay, detailing the affair, and offering to
make a money atonement for the grave offence. The minute
of session, of date 24th April 1718, runs thus :—

“The minister reports he had the other day received a letter
from Alexander M‘Donald in Inchmarnock bearing: That lately,
when his house was a-building, the masons, without his knowledge,
had carried away sundry stones out of the chappell, and put them
in the walls of the house ; and when the same came to his know-
ledge, he was highly displeased, and caused a mason value what
stones were so misapplied, and in consideration for the said stones
taken out of the chappell to build his house, he sent ten pounds
ten shillings Scots to the session, to be by them applied to the
behoof of the poor as they thought meet, which letter and money
the minister presented to the session; and the letter being read
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It is said to have been granted to the monastery by Roderick
of Kintyre, a grandson of Somerled of Man, about the year
1220. No trace of such a gift appears among the charters of
the house still extant. Perhaps the awkwardness of collect-
ing the teind sheaves gave rise to the idea that, like the lands
of the Cistercians, it was exempted, by a Papal constitution,
from paying dues.

Head of Cross with Runic Inscription found on Inchmarnock.

The Celtic evangelists and hermits went when and where
the spirit moved them. After throwing a twig in the air the
pilgrim marked the direction it pointed to, as it lay on the
ground, and followed that till he found a desirable cell. At
first he was more scantily provided for than the islander
hermit (eremita insulanus) of Inchcolm, who was “content
with such poor food as the milk of one cow and the shell and

small sea-fishes which he could collect.”
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The reference to that prolific clan, the Mac-gill-chiarans,
brings up the name of a distinguished visitor in Bute. Last
century that ancient family lived in every farm and cot in
the district of the Neils, and had their own burial-ground at
Clachieran (Claodh Chiarain), near Glechnabae. Now they
prefer the common name of Sharp. In the very heart of the
land of the Neils, and not far from the ruined fortalice of
Nigel, the hereditary crowner in Bute, stood an old chapel
bearing the name of Cilkeran. Faint traces of it existed in
the time of Blain (p. 92).

The Ciaran, whose name was estecemed second to none
among the Celts, was the spotless youth, Ciaran Mac an
t-saoir (Macintyre)—the son of the artificer—whom Columba
sang as the “lamp” of Erin, and Alcuin called “the glory of
the Scottish people.” He never looked upon a woman nor
told a lie, ‘twas said. With Columba and Brendan, probably
Blaan also, he had his place among the Second Order of Saints
—iz.e., the Columban type. This class consisted mostly of
priests, admitted diverse liturgies, had a British Mass, served
various rules, and excluded women from the monasteries and
service. As his name implies, ke dark-complexioned man,
Ciaran, though born in Meath, was of Dalaradian extraction,
and was born about the year 515. At Finnian’s great school
at Clonard he was associated with Columba, Brendan the
Voyager, and other celebrated men whose names are house-
hold words. He placed himself under the discipline of
famous abbots, and served their houses with the greatest
humility and sanctity. Shortly before his untimely death
by pestilence, on gth September 549, he founded the mon-
astery of Clonmacnois, which had a most eventful history.
Scottish tradition makes him seek a temporary retreat or
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The parents of Brendan, Finlogha and Cara, committed
their son to the pious charge of his relative, the youthful
virgin Ita (4570). She was a daughter of a princely house
in Munster, and from her infancy was imbued with Christian
principles, so that she was considered the St Brigid of Munster
by the pupils who frequented her nunnery.

Thereafter Brendan came under the tuition of St Erc
(+512), also a Munster man, probably Bishop of Slane,
with whom he remained till he was ready to study theology
at Cluainfois, under St Jarlath of Tuam. From St Erc he
afterwards received the priesthood. The distinguished mon-
astic school of Clonard was then attracting students north-
ward to the banks of the Boyne, and St Finnian the abbot,
himself a pupil of the great British teachers, was inspiring the
youth of Erin with his own enthusiasm.

St Finnian combined with great learning, especially in the
Scriptures, a touching simplicity of character and a severe
abstinence in the way of living. Mother-earth sufficed him
for a bed and a stone for a pillow. He was content with
bread and herbs with a cup of water for his food, with occa-
sionally the luxury of a fish accompanied by a little whey or
native beer. He died about 552 AD. Among his 3000
scholars were the twelve apostles of Ireland, of whom Ciaran,
Brendan, and Columba brought greatest fame to this “ doctor
of wisdom.”

The biographers next convey Brendan to Britain or
Brittany on a pilgrimage undertaken, on the advice of St
Ita, as an atonement for the death of a person by drowning,
of which Brendan accused himself of being partly a cause.
Here he met St Gildas, probably in his monastery of Llan-
carfan in South Wales. In Britain he instituted a school,
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b

his “penitential countenance;” and the poet St Cuimin of

Connor, in his eulogy of the Hibernian saints, recounts

how—
“ Brendan loved perpetual mortification,
According to his Synod and his flock;
Seven years he spent on the great whale’s back :
It was a distressing mode of mortification.”

The Latin Life of St Brendan (Vite S. Brendani), edited
by Dr Moran from the Liber Kilkenntensis, treats of his life

in twenty-nine chapters, thus:—

‘1. Birth of St Brendan. 2. The sanctity of St Brendan fore-
told by Becc Mac De. 3. Baptism of St Brendan; he is placed
under the care of St Ita. 4. St Brendan educated by St Erc. s,
St Brendan accompanies St Erc in his missionary visitations. 6. St
Brendan by a miracle saves the life of a fellow-traveller. 7. A
fountain of water issues forth at the prayer of St Brendan. 8.
Through the prayers of St Ita and the exhortation of St Brendan,
St Colman embraces a life of perfection. ¢. St Brendan visits St
Jarlathe of Tuam. 10. St Brendan writes his Religious Rule. 11,
St Brendan restores a dead youth to life; is ordained priest by St
Erc ; founds monasteries in his native district. 12. Three thousand
religious serve God under the rule of St Brendan ; he visits St Ita,
and founds the monasteries of Inishdadromm and Clonfert. 13.
St Brendan miraculously frees the town of Bri-uys, in Munster, from
a plague of insects. 14. One of St Brendan’s religious, through
obedience, exposes himself to death. 15. St Brendan, by the
counsel of St Ita, sets out on a penitential pilgrimage to Britain;
his visit to the monastery of St Gildas. 16. Miracles performed by
St Brendan at the monastery of St Gildas. 17. St Brendan com-
mends the patronage of St Brigid, whose soul was at all times
absorbed in God. 18. St Brendan erects a cell in Inis-meic-
ichiund ; the King of Connaught makes a gift of the island to
St Brendan. 19. St Brendan restores to life one of the religious
of Inisadromm. 2o. St Brendan restores to liberty a man sorely
distressed in captivity. 21. St Brendan, in his seventy-seventh year,
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At a later stage of their peregrinations they came back
and kept Easter on Jascon’s back,—“a difficult mode of
piety,” as an Irish writer of old said,—and the leviathan gaily
carried the mission over to the Paradise of Birds.

Thereafter they visited an isle—grassy, full of flowers and
trees. A snow-white bird flew with tinkling wings to meet
the saint, and tell him how the snowy birds they saw were
spirits of the dead. And there they sat and sang and praised
the Deity with the sweet rhapsody of their wings. The vocal
bird also foretold how Brendan had to wander seven years
in his quest o’er the main. After many romantic adventures
they reach the “Isle of the family of Ailbe,” where Christ-
mas was spent among the Silent Monks, who had been there
since the time of St Patrick and St Ailbe. It was a weird
company. For these monks never grew older, never changed,
never spoke, never cooked earthly food, for God cherished
and nourished them.

The story proceeds and evidently relates to adventures
among the crystal icebergs of the ocean and the volcanic
appearances of Iceland. These may have been additions
from the “Lives” of other saints who penetrated into the far
north long after the time of St Brendan.

One of his discoveries was the infamous Judas, whom he
discovered sitting on a craggy rock, in mid-ocean, with a veil
flapping him on the face as the waves beat on or around him.
Matthew Arnold, in his beautiful poem of “Saint Brandan,”
thus describes the scene :—

the existence of O’Brazil, an enchanted land of joy and beauty, which is seen
sometimes on the blue rim of the ocean, is very confidentially believed in Dby
the fishermen of our Western coasts. It is seen from Aran once every seven
years.” ‘
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mighty river in the land. Its fruits and gems they gathered
to show their wondering friends at home. So setting sail
once more they reached “ The Isle of Delights,” and the stout
company disbanded to less romantic toils—which ofttimes, no
doubt, were lightened by the memories of the perils of the
deep.

The romance of Brendan was long accepted as a truthful
narrative, in so far, at least, as the Land of the Promise of the
Saints was concerned. The Isle of Brendan became the quest
of navigators. The King of Portugal looked upon it as one
of his possessions, and down to 1721 expeditions were sent
out specially to seek it.

Since this chapter was written, the Marquess of Bute de-
livered a lecture to the Scottish Society of Literature and
Art in Glasgow on 19th January 1893, upon “ The Fabulous
Voyage of Brendan,” in which he suggested that Brendan was
of a hypnotic temperament, highly sensitised, restless, and
impelling him to migratory efforts on behalf of the Church,
The founding of Clonfert Monastery was the chief act of his
life. This learned paper has been published in ¢ The Scottish
Review’ (vol. xxi,, No. xlii.) It concludes with the following

passage :—

“J look upon Brendan’s wanderings in the Western Isles soon
after his ordination, in search of a place wherein to found a monas-
tery, as the only scrap of historical basis, at any rate as far as he
was concerned, which the romance possesses. The Life says that
he reached many islands, but instances only two, one of these being
the so-called Land of Promise as above, and the incidents are not
of a very startling character. No one on the other hand will deny
that the Voyage narrates a series of incidents of a very startling
character indeed, and it seems to me beyond possibility that some of
them, such as the Judas episode, can have even a legendary basis,
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in Tona (679-704), keeps green the laurels nobly earned by
the dauntless pioneer for Christ. But, as 1 have before in-
dicated, Columba was far from being “the first who ever
burst into that silent sea.” The white sail of Gospel-voyager
as well as of Ulidian buccaneer was well known in every bay
and shelter on the Western coast, generations before his time.
Almost as nebulous as the Orion of the heavens is the
Nimrod of Leven—Saint Kessog—who is depicted with bow
and arrow ready for the chase. This patron saint of Cumbrae,
and formerly of the warriors of Leven, peregrinated from
Munster to the Moray Firth. Faolan the leper retreated into
the wilds of Perthshire, around Dundurn, to teach the Picts
of the Earn. Others, such as Modwenna the Virgin, recounted
the wondrous works of St Patrick throughout Galloway and
the Lothians. Nor were the isles left unvisited by Hybar
and Maccaile, and probably even by St Brigid herself. The
British Church had also left a trail of glory to guide Columba
in the pagan darkness.

The age, however, had fast ripened into readiness for the
reception of Christian morality and truth, and as part of the
great movements then occurring is noticed the fusing of the
incoherent colonies of Hibernian invaders in maritime Cale-
donia into a union of petty states under a powerful king.
These Dalriadans, from the northern districts of Ireland,
having, after two centuries of foray, firmly established them-
selves in Kintyre, Argyleshire, and in the adjacent isles—
Inchegal—were, like true Celts, too restless and pugnacious
to scttle down to the gentle art of fishing, when they had
neighbours to spoil. They penetrated northward, menacing
the kingdom of the northern Picts, then ruled by Bruide Mac
Maelcon. These incensed Cruithne, in turn, fell upon the
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and seminaries he had reared in his native land. He made
his way to King Conall’s camp, and when among his kinsmen
there, described a battle in Erin, which in his vision he saw
there and then proceeding. This incident shows the inter-
esting relationship still subsisting between colony and father-
land, and Columba made this bond the basis of his mission-
ary enterprise. According to Adamnan, he received the grant
of Iona from his relative, King Conall; according to Bede,
from the Pictish King Bruide. Probably both claimed suzer-
ainty over its debatable land.

The faint remembrance and association of the name of
Columba in place-names and in fairs, at Caolisport, in Arran,
Cumbrae, Largs, Rothesay, may be the memorials of his resi-
dence in Dalriada. Adamnan gives no reference to the
saint’s visits to Cowal nor Bute, and, what is very remark-
able, makes no mention of local contemporaries like Catan,
Blaan, and Molaise. Nor is there any dedication of a church
in the immediate vicinity to any of the twelve followers of
Columba., “In 1516 King James V. granted to Sir Patrick
Makbard the chaplainry of Saint Columba in the Isle of Bute,
with liberty to discharge the due burdens and services either
personally or by substitute.”! Monro, in 1549, refers to a
chapel “under the castle of Kames,” which doubtless was
that at St Colmac in North Bute, where formerly stood the
church of that name, not far distant from Kildavannan, which
might be associated with Adamnan, since these two dedica-
tions are often found together? Otherwise the site of St
Columba’s church has not hitherto been identified.

1 ¢Qrig. Paroch.,’ vol. ii. p. 224, quoting ‘ Reg. Sig.,’ vol. v. fol. 57.
2 See Appendix.
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country. Columba, who was called in to consecrate Aidan as
king, refused, “ because he loved Jogenan his brother more,”
until, after some salutary inflictions by an angel, he was soon
brought to a better state of mind. This was, perhaps, only a
euphemistic way of declaring that the man of peace feared
“ the little firebrand”—as Aidan’s name implied—a name his
after-career did not belie. The Cymric bards even went the
length of calling him “Vradog,” or the false one. With the
aid of this angel’s “glassy book of the ordination of kings,”
Columba ordained Aidan king in Iona, this being the first
consecration of a Christian king in Britain.

The evolution of political events in Britain, Alban,and Erin,
had opened up a brilliant destiny for the proper man. Aidan
was the man of destiny. His lineage was right royal. On
his father’s side he had the blood of the Nialls in his veins;
on his mother’s that of “QOld King Coyl.” Through Lleian,
daughter of King Brychan, who gave his name to Brecknock
in South Wales, he was connected with one of the three holy
families of Britain, and also with many powerful reigning
families among the Cymry and Gael who had married out of
Brychan’s house. These “ Men of the North,”—“Gwyr y Gog-
led,” as the Cymric bards styled these chieftains,—afterwards
became the allies of Aidan when he combined Dalriads and
Brythons against the Picts in the north, and the pagan Angles
in the south of Strathclyde.! At this epoch the Brythons in
Alban were divided into small independent states ruled by
their own petty kings, who, with Aidan, claimed descent from
Maxim Guletic, or the Emperor Maximus, who obtained

1 The country between the Ribble and the Clyde, except Pictish Galloway, was
called by the early Welsh writers ““Y Gogled.” Sometimes it referred only to
the Brythonic country north of the Solway,
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That was the last of his valiant enterprises. His success
had been the security of the Western Church, and in his reign
flourished Brendan, Columba, Catan, Blaan, Molaise, and
Kentigern. He was the founder of the Scottish monarchy.
He survived by three years his old ally Rhydderch, and by
nine the saintly abbot who placed the crown on his head. In
600, at the ripe a:ge of seventy-four, the sceptre fell from his
hands, after he had reigned thirty-eight warring years, of
which he was for thirty-two years King of Alban.! Of his ten
children—Arthur, Eochaidh Fionn, Domhangart, Eochaidh
Buidhe, Tuathal, Bran, Baiothin, Conang, Gartnait, Maith-
gemm—four were slain in battle in 596—viz., Arthur, Eochaidh
Fionn, Domhangart, and Bran ; and Conang was drowned in
622. Eochaidh Buidhe succeeded to the crown, and died in
629 A.D.

The place of his death is not mentioned by the Irish annal-
ists, but John of Fordun records that he died in Kintyre, and
is buried at Kilkerran, where none of his predecessors had
been interred.?  According to Father Hay, “ Convall, a pupil
of Kentigern, lived att Inchinnan, some 7 miles from Glasgow,
and made the funerall discourse att King Aidanus Buriall.”3

But Bishop Leslie, in his History, mentions, without citing
an authority, that King Aidan was buried in Iona. I suggest
Bute as his resting-place on the following grounds. Above
Ardbeg Point there lies a little farm, now designated Ruli-
cheddan, but a century ago noted in Dr Maclea’s Visiting-
Book as Reiligeadhain, which signifies the burial-place of
Eadan—rezlig being the Gaelic form of the Latin religuie or

1 ¢ Chron. Picts and Scots,’ p. 68. ¢ Ann. Tigh.’
2 ¢ Chron.,’ lib. iii. cap. xxxi. vol. i. p. 117. Skene’s ed. Edinburgh, 1871.
3 Hay, ¢ Scotia Sacra,” MS. Adv. Lib., p. 30.
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to Rothesay, ! gives a different version of the tradition, in
which Spens, a young laird of Wester Kames, was the luckless
hero, but this is not in keeping with the age of the cists found
in the cairn.

“The cairn covered the remains of a great hero. He was
wont to wear a belt of gold, which, being charmed, protected
him on the field of battle. One day, however, as he rode a-
hunting accompanied by his sister, the maid, coveting the
golden talisman, prevailed upon him to lend it to her. While
thus unprotected he was killed,—whether by enemies or mis-
chance the attenuated tradition does not clearly indicate;
and this cairn marked the warrior's grave.”

This allusion to a belted hero has a great significance when
it is recollected that a gold belt was the insignia of office of
each of the “Duces Britanniarum "—the three military com-
manders of Roman Britain. This badge or girdle was assumed
by the native successor of this duke, who took the name of
Gwledig, and with it the authority of an over-king among
the Kymry.2

Birth, as well as martial prowess, seems to have been King
Aidan’s right to wear this belt, as has been previously pointed
out; one account making him a descendant of Maxim Guletic,
another of Ceretic Guletic, whom Dr Skene identifies with the
very Coroticus who held the Christians in subjection in the
time of St Patrick.?

This place-name—Reilig-Aedhain—may thus be our last
memorial of the tomb of this brave and noble Christian king,
who may have rested from his labours there when Bute—

1 P. 60. Rothesay, 1848. 2 Rhys, ¢ Early Britain,’ p. 119.
3 ¢The Four Anc. Books of Wales,” W. F. Skene. Edinburgh, 1868. Vol. ii.
p- 455. C. S. Vol i. pp. 158, 160,
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monk sceing the Anglo-Saxon slaves from Deira in the
market-place, and never finding peace till, as Pope, he sent
from his own monastery the famous St Augustine and his
forty companions to undertake the conversion of England,
about 590 A.D. These great movements were transpiring in
the reign of Scottish Aidan, and St Blaan felt their impetus.
No Christian pilgrim could leave such scenes without being
fired in imagination, and carrying in his memory impressions
from great functions, the models and practique of architecture,
patterns of learning, and examples of living, of a kind far in
advance of anything known or dreamt of in his native Alban.
Indeed, tradition here avers that the enthusiastic monk
brought with him consecrated earth to found his monastery
upon, to which it is necessary to refer more fully afterwards,
when dealing with the women’s cemetery at Kilblaan.!

He returned on foot. When passing through Northumbria,
he heard two royal parents mourning for their dead blind son.
Touched with pity, the pilgrim raised him to life, at the sign
of the cross, and presented him safe, sound, and seeing to his
parents. His name was Columba. Out of gratitude they
presented Blaan with lands there, and on that account the
church of Dunblane continued to possess, down to 1296, the
manors of Appilby, Congere, Troclyngham, and Malemath.
He seems to have founded a church too at Kilblain, near
Dumfries, and impressed his name by the way home at
Strathblane, Sutheblan, and Auchenblain, near Crossraguel,
in Ayrshire.

Travel and varied experiences, such as these, refined Blaan’s

1 St Molaise of Daimhinis went to Rome, about 570, to bring back relics and
consecrated clay. MS. Irish Life.
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After the necessity passed away, the combination, however,
long survived, till the plan of enclosing the ecclesiastical
edifices within a substantial rath or cashel became general
in Ireland and Scotland. Remains of these are visible at
St Ninian’s, Kilmory, and St Blaan’s. There were three
concentric walls at St Blaan’s—one confining the primitive
buildings beneath the ridge, another including these and the
present church, and a third bounding the abbey land from
sea to sea. This latter is referred to in the charter by which
Alan the Steward, in 1204, disponed of St Blaan’s Church to
Paisley Priory :—

“ Besides, I myself, for the soul of King David, also for the soul
of King Malcolm, and for the soul of my father, Walter, together
with that of my mother, Eschene, and for the salvation of our Lord
the King, William of Scotland and his heirs, and for the salvation of
myself and my heirs, give, dispone, and by this my charter confirm
to the same superior of Passelet, and to the monks serving God, at
the same place, the church of Kengaif [Kengarf?] in the isle of
Bote, with all the chapels and with the whole jurisdiction [parish]
of the same isle, and with the whole land which St Blaan, it is
said, formerly girded across country [or, by a syke] from sea even
to sea, by boundaries secure and visible, so that freely and quietly
as any church in the whole kingdom of Scotland it shall be held
more free and peaceable.” !

This disposition of Kilblaan does not appear to have
been acted upon. At least, in 1224, when the monastery of
Paisley was taken under the protection of the Pope, all the
lands connected with it are mentioned in the bull, and Kin-
garth is not among them.? Nor is it mentioned in the

1 ‘Reg. Mon. de Passelet,” p. 15. See Appendix.
2 Theiner’s ¢ Vetera Monumenta Ilibernorum et Scotorum,’ p. 23. 1864.
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tion of a si#% or spirit, who, when propitiated by the offering
of a coin, is wont to give the faithful drinkers of its limpid
spring a blessing, which cures sterility. Within the last
decade believers in this extra-
ordinary superstition have been
known to visit the well with the
requisite propitiatory oblations.
A few yards distant from the
well lies the stone lavatory
wherein the pilgrims’ feet were
bathed, an irregular, hollow,

sandstone block, over whose

Foot-font at Kilblaan.

rim a runnel is cut! Or the
stone may have been the font used for the washing of the
feet of the newly baptised.

The ceremonial washing of the feet or “pedilavium,” not
found in the Roman office, was common to the early Gallican
ritual of baptism, and is thus referred to in the ‘Stowe
Missal ’:—

“ Tunc lanantur pedes eius, accepto linteo accepio.
Alleluia. Lucerna pedibus meis uerbum tuum, domine.”

South of the well a small recess is pointed out as “the
priest’s house.” To this Blain apparently refers (‘ Hist.,’ p. 73):
“The minister’s house stood in a sequestered spot particu-
larly well calculated for contemplation and to excite devo-
tion. One end was close to the precipice, and here a hermit
might find a most eligible situation for his abode.”

As I have before indicated, “ The Deil’s Cauldron” was

1 Oval lavatory, 28 inches and 31 inches diameter ; basin, 18 inches, and 19
inches diameter ; depth of basin, 7% inches; thickness, 11 inches.
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was a house of rest for pilgrims (Zospitium), and not far off
sparkled a well.

This, then, was the type of the Celtic monastery—a circu-
lar wall, originally for defence, enclosing a house of prayer
and a dormitory, with a guest-house for visitors or pupils,
beside an unfailing spring outside the wall. From this type
arose the extensive monastic settlements such as those of
Tona and Kingarth. Here at Kilblaan are illustrated all the
stages of this growth in the surviving edifices, though ruined,
and the transition from one phase of ecclesiastical life to
anothef, until now the holy fane has become a retreat for
those who enjoy an a/ fresco holiday.

The picturesque ruins of the church of St Blaan rise over
a verdant mound, whose peculiar situation between two
rough ridges leads me to think the mound is a natural
tumulus, arrested and left hanging on the brink of the
declivity, over which the waters roared to the sea, on either
side, from the sweet little valley behind. It may afterwards
have needed trimming by monkish hands, as God’s acre be-
came more populated round the consecrated walls.

Did St Blaan first enclose it and place his primitive church
there? is a natural inquiry. Good reasons exist for believing
that he did. The architectural features of the building
produce them. At first sight, the appearance of the Norman
masonry, with its regular and unbroken courses, and the
precise and workman-like fitting of the vertical and horizontal
joints, together with as lovely a Romanesque chancel arch
as our country can boast, would lead a visitor to conclude
that he had stumbled upon one of those early Norman
churches which King David, “the sair sanct for the Crown,”
planted, as the chronicler said, as thick as lichens over the
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is the nucleus of the church—the small sc.luare basilica of
St Blaan.

The whole church as it stands consists of a nave and a
chancel, which has been extended either eastward or west-
ward. Its total exterior length is 85 feet 8 inches; interior,
80 feet 2 inches. The nave, of Norman masonry, measures
56 feet 8 inches without and 51 feet 2 inches within in
length, and 22 feet 314 inches without and 16 feet 724 inches
within in breadth. The west gable is 3 feet 2 inches thick ;
the nave walls, 2 feet 10 inches thick. The gable dividing
the nave from the chancel stands about 26 feet high, and is
pierced by the lovely chancel arch. Mr Galloway thus
describes it!:—

“It is in two orders, the first carried on jamb-columns having
each of the arch-stones decorated with a simple form of the beak-
head. In the second, carried on detached columns, the shafts of
which are gone, each arch-stone is carved both on the soffit and
exterior face, with a division of the double-rolled zigzag or chevron
meeting at the apices, and so forming a very rich example of this
characteristic ornament. In section the label is semi-hexagonal.
In the centre there is a small Greek cross inscribed in a circle
about four inches in diameter, the rest of the stone on either side
being striated rather than moulded, with lines following the curve
of the arch and terminating abruptly without any reference to the
adjoining decoration. The ornament on the remaining part of the
label forms a peculiar and by no means common variety of that
well-known feature in Norman work—the lozenge, the pattern in
this case being brought out by a series of alternate sinkings of a
triangular form. . . . The capitals of the columns present con-
siderable variety in their modes of decoration, each one being
different from the others. The abaci are continued as a string
round the interior of the nave ; this string, together with that on

1 ¢Arch. Scot.,’ vol. v., Part ii., pp. 329-331.
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of this description. St Cuthbert (4687), during his life, re-
ceived a gift of a stone coffin (sarcoplagus) from Abbot
Cudda ; and, by his own direction, was wrapped in fine linen,
and buried in it, “at the south side of my oratory, opposite
the east side of the holy cross which I have erected there "—
in the cell. Afterwards St Cuthbert’s remains were placed in
a shrine above the pavement.

By means of a flight of steps, between two walls, access
from an upper graveyard to a lower, called the “ Women's
Burial-Place ” or “ Nunnery,” is obtained. This lower grave-
yard is 6 feet beneath the level of the higher or “ Men’s Burial-
Place.” The original stone steps are zz szfzz. Within this
lower precinct are found the stone foundations of a small
building, rectangular, earth-bound, and oriented, 23 feet in
length and 17 feet in breadth. A doorway pierces the south
wall. The floor is occupied with eight slabs, two of which
are sculptured.

The reputed curse of Blaan ordained that women were only
to receive burial in this disjoined cemetery.! But these divi-
sions were not uncommon in the early Celtic Church. The
second class of Irish saints, including Columba, and the dis-
ciples of Bangor, did not encourage the near proximity of
female. establishments to their celibate settlements. Bede
narrates how in 676 A.D.,, when a pestilence fell upon the
monastery of Barking, and the sisters of the adjoining monas-
tery, “in which God’s female servants were divided from the
men, were concerned where they who fell of the pestilence
should be buried, a resplendent light from heaven appeared,
and, like a sheet, spread itself over a spot to the south side of

1 See before, p. 27.
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behaviour in their charge, declared their concurrence with him, onlie
wishit them to be admonishit in these things—
¢¢ 1, Slackness in censures of some vices which would require
greater sharpnes, which they declin to exercise.
¢z, Neglect of familie worship in some of themselfs.
¢ 3. Carelessnes to persuad the people of their severall quarters
to attend weeklie sermons.
¢4, Ther tollerating the people in a superstitious custome,
viz.,, of burying their men and women in two diverse churchyards,
the first rise quhereof wes superstitione, and contineweth to be so in
many of the people’s mind hitherto.’
“Parties having been recalled, the Presbytery intimated the fol-
lowing injunction :—
“<¢Wheras ther hath bin a custome of burying men and women
A e RS in two diverse kirkyards, the people refusing to
superstitions  cus- bury promiscouslie in anie one of them, and that
tome of burieing in p A 0nQ 5 . g
the kirkyard of Kin- this is done superstitiouslie, therefor it is ordained
sanhy that men and women shall be promiscouslie buryed
in the Vpper Kirkyard, and for the Laigh Kirkyard where onlie
women were befor buried that none such shall be now, but men
may bury there if they please, and if want of roome in the other
yard be required, and to mak this Act effectuall the minister is care-
fullie to attend burials for a seasone and if anie shall offer to bury
contrar to this act, he is to put to his hand for the resistance of
them, and they are to be sumound to the Presbytery as Scandalous
persons to be censured, and this act to be publishit on Saboth, to-
gedder with ane act of the sessione declaring the penaltie that shall
be exacted from every transgressor of this Act.’”!

The enforcement of this Act ultimately stopped the antique
custom. The church of Blaan was used as the parish church
of Kingarth down to the eighteenth century. The last burial
in the upper graveyard took place in 1392.

1 Presbytery Record, vol. i. pp. 266, 267.
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“the hard and laborious monasterial rule” of obedience,
self-denial, and fasting.
The name of the farm of Plan, on which St Blaan’s Church

now stands, is evidently an ecclesiastical survival—cf. Latin

Socket of Cross at Kilblaan.

Dplanum, a cultivated spot (according to Ducange = camiterium),
transformed into Celtic //an, a church—the earlier meaning of
which is a fertile spot.

The mission implied labour. Instead of a holy hush
brooding, there was a lively hum sweeping over the religious
colony (congbhal). The presbyter-abbot superintended all
within the walls, and only gave place to the resident or
visiting bishop when the latter celebrated the Eucharist and
conferred ordination. The church, cells, barns, and other
edifices were to erect, add to, and repair, and busy were the
monks carrying stones or bustling in from the woodlands
with the wattles and planks on their backs. The fields were
to plough and the shares to be made ; the grain was to be
gathered and beat, and the little kilns, like that at Kelspoke,
were to be reared and fired till provision was made for man
and beast. Here a monk was hammering a granite boulder
into a quern (7o), or driving it while he sang ; there a brother

VOL. I. N
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entirely choral. From fragments of, and references to, the
early liturgies, one can infer that the order of worship was, in
the main, according to the following arrangement: Call to
Prayer; Litany; Prayer;
Hymn; Collect; Lesson
from Prophets; Collect;
Epistle (St Paul to the
Corinthians); Canticle with
Antiphons—* The Song of
the Three Children ;” Col-
lect; Gospel; Collect; Ser-
mon ; Anthem; entrance
of celebrating priest and
deacon, with elements;
Offertory of the People;
Intercessions, with com-

memoration of dead, whose
names are sung out; Eu- The Bell of St Fillan.
charistic Prayer and Act

of Consecration ; Fraction of bread ; Benediction ; Immission
of consecrated particle into the chalice; Creed; Lord’s
Prayer; Communion of Clergy— Anthem ; The Kiss of
Peace; Communion of People (in both kinds)—Anthem ;
Thanksgiving Hymn—*“ Gloria in Excelsis”; Thanksgiving
Prayer.! -

1 ‘The Stowe Missal,” which partly dates from the ninth century, and incor-
porates in an early Celtic liturgy additions from the Roman, has the following
order of the Mass: Litany of the apostles, holy martyrs, and virgins ; Prayer of
Augustine (prayer of celebrant ascending altar) ; ¢‘ Gloria in Excelsis ;7 Collect ;
Prayer of Peter; Epistle of Paul to the Corinthians; Collect ; Litany of St
Martin; Collect; Preparation of chalice; Lesson from St John’s Gospel;
Prayer ; Nicene Creed ; Full uncovering of chalice ; Collect of oblation of paten
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jurisdiction, and its head would consecrate the bishops of
Lindisfarne and of other Northumbrian houses.

Daniel’s crosier fell to Johann or Iolan, of whom we know
nothing, save that he was a bishop, and held office till 689,
being contemporary with Abbot Adamnan of Iona. In.his
time also Cuthbert preached, and Caedmon sang the Gospel
to the Angles.

Colman the Celt found his task in a foreign land no easy
one. The Southern British Church, owning allegiance to
Rome, was at variance with the Celtic Church in regard to
the date of Easter, the circular tonsure, and the supremacy in
the Church. The two parties, Roman and Celtic, wrangled
the matter out. Abbot Wilfrid of York, an indefatigable
schemer, brought the dispute to an issue by persuading King
Osuiu, who held a council at Whitby in 664, where Colman
and he pleaded their causes, that the Roman party had the
best authority for their views.

The sturdy Celt fled the scene. He preferred the traditions
of the Church, the opinion of Columba, and his own inter-
pretation of Scripture to the doctrine of Rome. Quitting
Northumbria with his compatriots, bearing the relics of Aidan
and other saints, he repaired to Iona. By what route did he
come? Would he not likely visit Bute by the way, in order
to inform Iolan and his family of the disaster which had
fallen on their Order? It might even be possible that the
old church of Colmac bore his honoured name in memory of
his visit. In time his opponent Wilfrid extended his diocese
of York as far as the territory of Dalriada during Osuiu’s
reign,

Before Iolan died, in 689, he and the Celtic party at least
had one satisfaction in seeing the Anglic yoke over Dalriada
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Several churches in Ireland and Scotland were dedicated to
him, and the names Tennant and Maclennan are survivals of
his name.

Kildavannan chapel is little more than a name. The
faintest traces of the foundations of a building remain on
Cnocdavannan Hill, 300 yards above the farm of Kilda-
vannan. They measure over all 19 feet long and 15 feet
broad. It is interesting to note, however, that these founda-
tions-are oriented a little north of east. According to some
curious observations communicated to the Anthropological
Institute by Mr T. W. Shore, several of the oldest churches in
Hampshire are oriented 20° north of east, a fact he attributes
to Celtic influences. This orientation is thus on the line of
the old May-day sunrise, a position reverenced by the Celts.

The origin of the name Kildavannan is still left in ob-
scurity, but I would suggest an association of it with Adam-
nan, Abbot of Iona. His name, Adam-nan—Ilittle Adam—
through time assumed many and curious forms, such as
Aunan, Eunan, Onan, and Ounan, as well as Zheunan,
Skeulan, Teunan, and Fidamnan. The hill above the old
chapel is known as Kenan Hill. Since Kingarth was within
the sphere of Adamnan’s influence, it is not a hazardous con-
jecture to assign this chapel as a memorial of his important
work in the seventh century.

Abbot Ronan of Kingarth had succeeded to the chair
vacated by Iolan, and held office fifteen years before Adam-
nan died. But it is a most remarkable fact that Adamnan
never refers, in the Life of Columba, to the sister monastery in
Bute. It may still have remained conservative and Celtic
until this very Ronan brought it into harmony with the

Roman Church. This Ronan is generally associated with
VOIL. I O
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new order. The ancient grudge between Picts and Dalriads
again broke out, and in 736 (Jingus Mac Fergus, King of the
Picts, laid waste the Dalriadic kingdom—following that with
another “ percussion” a few years later. This (Engus was
the Aidan of the Picts, who carried fire and sword every-
where against Briton and Angle, as well as against Scot.
Bede calls him “a sanguinary tyrant” He placed his heel
on Dalriada, and Bute with it came under Pictish domination
for a time.

Abbot Maclmanach, who died in A.D. 776, and Abbot Noe,
who died in 790, were the abbots who presided over the
destinies of Kingarth in this unhappy epoch, when the native
Scots had to forsake their burning hearths and seek other
homes. Then the very relics of the founders of the colony,
the three sons of Erc, were removed from Ilona to Ireland.
The sceptre of Dalriada was broken. Of the personal history
of those two last abbots we have not a vestige left. All we
might venture to say of them is—

“Far from the madding crowd’s ignoble strife,
Their sober wishes never learned to stray;
Along the cool sequestered vale of life
They kept the noiseless tenor of their way.”

Noe just lived to the verge of that miserable age which
Abbot Breasal of Iona saw, when the western seas began to
be troubled, and the Church to be terrified, by the blood-
thirsty Vikings. Their descent was like a deserved judgment
on these unhappy peoples, who would not accept the peace
proffered to them on the acceptance of Christ.

In what condition Kingarth and its dependent chapels were
found by the piratical Northmen in search of the spoils of the
altar is unknown. It is evident from Alan the Steward’s
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The most unique stone at Kilblaan is a small sandstone
slab 30 inches high, 10 broad, and 224 inches thick, one side
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Grave-siab in Kilblaan Churchyard.

only of which is sculptured. It lies broken in three pieces.
In its original state it had been divided into panels. The’
upper panel contains a rider on horseback.
A helmet covers his head: a spear rests
on his foot: a strange figure, not now
intact, but probably a bird in flight, is
carved in front of his face: a club-shaped
thing rises between the fore-legs. The
whole representation is cut in bas-relief.

The under panel is filled with diagonal
cheques, and in the centre of each cheque
there has been a cup-shaped indentation ;

but these with many of the cheques are
Grave-siab at Ailblaan.
nearly defaced.

It is quite possible that on this stone’ there lingers a trace
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The most remarkable, if not unique, feature of the cross-
shaft, however, is the existence of a tenon at its upper and
broader extremity, indicating that the capital had been a sep-
arate piece, fixed by means of a mortice-joint, so as to form—
along with two quadrants below let into carefully bevelled
sockets, still visible in the sides of the shaft—a high cross,
somewhat like that of Tuam (M. Stokes, ¢ Early Christian Art
in Ireland,’ p. 138). This tenon measures 8 inches long, 114
inch high, and 11{ inch thick. The socket on each side is cut
7Y% inches from the base or neck on which the cross-head
rested. Each socket measures 314 inches long, 114 inch broad,
and is cut with a bevel 2 inches deep.

The obverse of the shaft is divided into three compartments
—the traces of a plain, flat moulding, about 1 inch broad
round each panel, being still visible. There may have been
formerly a fourth compartment, where the base is now fixed
into a built foundation, but no trace of carving existed on the
lowest part when examined by me. Each of these three
panels contains a subject carefully carved in relief, despite the
hardness of the quartz and mica field. The lowest panel ap-
pears filled with a Latin cross, rising out of a cushion or base,
and is surmounted by two well-shaped crested birds, which
resemble doves. The finials of this cross terminate in oval
bosses.

The middle panel displays a grotesquely shaped, cat-headed
quadruped in the impossible attitude of walking in a forward
direction with the club-hoofed fore-legs of an animal, and in
the opposite direction with the legs of a man. Vestiges of
eye-sockets remain. Three upright ears (unless they form a
crown) complete the head, and match the three prongs of a
tail which flourishes over its rounded back.
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resting-place. There is a small brook crossing the road to
the parish church, which is covered over with schistose flag-
stones, which is the only likely place for its being utilised.
Had it been accessible, Blain would have inspected it. So I
would assume that it had been removed before Blain came to
Bute in 1760, and that he only narrates the hearsay on the
subject.

From the Rev. Dr Maclea’s Parochial Visitation Books for
1774-1776, it appears that at or near Kilwhinleck resided
Robert McAlester, his wife, and a family of four girls, de-
signated as from “Kingarth” A John M‘Alister, who is
credited with being born at Ascog, before this had a brother
Robert, who latterly resided at Kilchattan Bay. Now it is
very improbable that any M‘Alister would remove a large
monument from a farm he was vacating, say Meikle Kil-
mory, far, in Bute especially. As instances prove, there was
a superstitious dread of molesting such memorials, and such
an act would not only have been deemed sacrilegious, but, as
in the case of the spoliation of St Marnock’s Chapel in 1718,
would have subjected the offender to the discipline of the
kirk-session. On the other hand, if a similar stone was re-
moved from his estate at the instance of the reverend and
ambitious laird of Kilwhinleck, who had long been a source
of irritation and trouble to the kirk-session and presbytery of
the bounds, and who, anxious to found a great house, neither
relished being childless, as he was, nor yet the romance, likely
mythical, connected with that monolith,—then who would be
so likely to be asked to remove it as this Robert McAlester,
who, to his own credit be it said, with rare good sense, con-
served this antique relic? Through him it might reach
Ascog. Speculation aside, the Kilwhinleck monolith has
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Cross IN RoTHeEsAY CASTLE—Two fragments of a white
sandstone slab, beautifully sculptured on one face and the
two edges, are now preserved in Rothesay Castle. According
to Dr Stuart, who has illustrated them in the ‘Sculptured
Stones of Scotland’: “ The stone here figured was found
about the year 1816 in clearing out the rubbish from St
Brieuc’s Chapel. It has lain in the courtyard of the castle
since that time.”! This is a reference to the repairing of St
Mary’s Chapel in 1817 by the Marquess of Bute. The lower
¢half measures 3 feet 4 inches long, 19 inches broad at the base,
and 20 inches broad where the slab is broken : the upper part
measures 2 feet g inches long and 20 inches broad. The slab
is 5 inches thick—the edges being engraved with interlaced
ornamentation. It has the appearance of having been a
memorial slab rather than a cross. It may have covered one
of the bishops laid to rest in St Mary’s Church early in the
fourteenth century, but in all probability is a relic of a still

earlier epoch.

Kilmorie (Church of Mary) is built upon the rocky face of
the hill, 220 yards south of Little Kilmory farm, a short
distance above the highway, and is a ruin still well defined
since the Marquess of Bute had the hidden site excavated. It
is a rectangular building, composed of small stones split from
the surrounding rocks, and bound with clay. It is oriented,
but not exactly. Its external measurements are 35 feet by 17
feet 9 inches at the west gable, and 17 feet 6 inches at the
east ; its internal, 30 feet by 13 feet 6 inches and 13 feet 9
inches. The gables are 2 feet 6 inches thick ; the side walls

1 Vol. ii, p. 36, plate Ixxii, Spalding Club, 1867.
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30 feet 6 inches, and 14 feet 6 inches. The walls remain
from 3 to 4 feet high, and from 3 to 3 feet 6 inches thick.
Clay is the cementing medium of the stones. The door was
in the middle of the south wall. The church is oriented a
little north of east. Blain narrates that a century ago the
hallowed ground was then marked out; to-day the huge
stones of a former enclosing wall are still visible. Two aged
ashes growing in the ruins mark the time which has elapsed
since the fane was deserted. A well bubbles up above the
chapel. To whom it was dedicated is not known. From
the composition of the name of the district—Ard-rosca-dale
—we might expect some connection between rosc or drosc
and Kruisk-lian, or Kruisk-church.

Batleachaibil, or Chapeltown, was a cluster of houses on
the west bank of Loch Fad, the ruins of which are still visible
under the shade of old plane-trees. Its name associates it
with some chapel, which must have existed prior to the
parish church in the immediate vicinity, if we are to account
for its necessity, or which was a memorial chapel that fell
into desuetude. There is a substantially built well at the
spot. Two ranges of edifices seem to have existed, and this
fact corresponds with the notes in Dr Maclea’s Visiting-
Book, that two families of sixteen persons lived here in
1774 ; in 1814, one family of two persons. A circular well-
built wall encloses an empty space on the south side, over-
shadowed by ash-trees, where the chapel may have stood.
North of these foundations is seen a small grass-grown circle
18 feet in external diameter, 8 feet in internal diameter, 2
feet in height, evidently the foundations of a round stone
edifice, the nature of which I have not discovered.

St Mary’s Chapel and St Bride’s will be described in vol. ii.
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of boat-building, and became expert in facing the deep with
seaworthy ships, manned by daring crews. The coasting ex-
peditions of the Danes were soon changed into bold descents
upon England, France, and the sunny shores of the Medi-
terranean, The men of Norway (“the Noregs-Vaelde”)
seemed to have tended in a westerly direction, and found
their way to the Shetlands, Orkneys, and other isles, from which
they ultimately swept out into the Hebrides and southern
isles, which they called the “ Sudreyjar,” and therein met
the fleets of Danish sea-rovers arriving by the southern
channels.

What at first was only the adventurous voyage of a “Sir
Ralph the Rover,” became soon an organised expedition of
fleets of fierce-looking craft, which arrived in the summer and
harvest-time, in search of spoil as well as glory. Out of
Sumarlidi, or Summer-Wanderers, they developed into con-
quering settlers.

The likeness to their native land of the western seaboard
of Scotland, with its fertile isles, sheltered lochs, and creeks,
where their ships could ride secure, and safe and tempting
friths and kyles, through which they could skim like sea-
birds, so charmed the Northmen, that each successive visit
excited the desires of their countrymen to see this happy
hunting-field ; and in consequence the descents of the north-
ern baysmen, “ Vikingr,” became of such national importance
as to necessitate the control of them under law. The visitors
soon became colonists, and mixing with the dispossessed
inhabitants, formed new settlements of their own in their
adopted land.

To the Christian Celts of the west they bore the distinctive
name of “Gentiles”—the Norwegians being called “azure
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tained a secure settlement on the mainland of Ireland, and
how, later, King Olave the White established the Danish
kingdom of Dublin. From that centre he issued on many a
bloody expedition to the Western Isles, and as far as Dum-
barton, which he utterly destroyed. In the train of his
triumph were borne away much spoil and crowds of captives
from Strathclyde, Pictland, and the Isles, notwithstanding the
close alliance of Olave with the Pictish. king, Kenneth, whose
daughter he had married. Olave’s successors were also given
to similar filibustering in the West.

In 883, Harald Harfagr, or The Fairhair, then in his
thirtieth year, and a petty king in Norway, established him-
self as ruler of a united kingdom. As a result of this, his
vanquished opponents fled into the Orkneys and Shetlands,
from which they issued on piratical raids of retaliation upon
the mother country. Unable to tolerate these irritating ex-
peditions, Harald, at the head of a Well-équipped fleet,
pounced down on the Orkneys and Sudreys, and, wiping
out the Vikings, established his monarchy as far as the Isle
of Man at the close of the ninth century. He left behind
him Jarls, or petty kings, to secure his conquests and levy the
tribute which he exacted.

" After his death, in 936, there developed a complication of
movements of a political character, involving the various
nationalities in Alban, Erin, and Britain in bloody conflicts,
all of which made for the ultimate consolidation of these
kingdoms under single kings of native birth. The Isles
assumed a king of their own, who ruled the Inchegall, or
islands of the Strangers, and their mixed population of Gall-
gaidhel. It would be difficult to say whether Bute at this

particular period was included in the possession of the Nor-
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from King Malcolm II1.”! There is room for gravely doubt-
ing this statement, since, in the charter conferring the office of
Seneschal of Scotland upon Walter, the son of Alan Dapifer,
granted by Malcolm IV. in 1158, he is infefted in the lands
disponed to him by King David I.,and Bute is not mentioned
among the number. This Fitzalan of Shropshire probably
entered the service of Malcolm III, or, still more likely,
joined the retinue of David, who had been so long resident
in England, as will be more fully elucidated in a succeeding
chapter.

The Irish annalists paint the Vikings with a broad brush
and the darkest colours. They were a fierce and impetuous
race, who showed their worst characteristics in the marauding
expeditions led by restless warriors. But at home, and in
times of peace, they enjoyed the fruits of a high state of
civilisation. Their works of art, especially metal-work, with
its very artistic ornamentation, their seaworthy ships built
with much skill, their precious codes of laws, their customs
and their literature, show that the Northmen were naturally
a clever people, who were, according to the times, in an ad-
vanced condition of civilisation. In Sir George Dasent’s
preface to ‘ The Story of Burnt Njal; or, Life in Iceland at
the end of the Tenth Century,’ is to be found a vivid and
interesting description of the Northmen at home, which can-
not fail to impress the reader with a better opinion of the
Northmen than we can form from the acts of selfish and
cruel Vikings on the war-path. In their home dealings they
were honest and affable, kind to their friends and considerate
to their inferiors. They were bluff and blunt, but had a

*1Vol. ii. Part i, p. 224.
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Rothesay caused by Uspak-Hdcon were securely repaired, and
that the stores of pitch and lead and stones were available for
the battlements, but he himself was with the army of the Scots
now concentrating in Ayrshire. The castellan, being either a
traitor or a coward, soon capitulated, as is afterwards related.

Early in August, Magnus King of Man met Haco in Skye,
and a little later Dugal and the clans of the Hebrides proved
their allegiance at Kerrera. These local fleets swelled the
Armada to 160 sail. Then Kintyre fell into the invader’s
hand ; but the king endeavoured to restrain the indiscriminate
ravages of his greedy troops on its often harassed lands.

From Kerrera “ he also ordered five ships for Bute: these
were under the command of Erlend Red, Andrew Nicolson,
Simon Stutt, Ivar Ungi Eyfari, and Gutthorm, the Hebrid-
ean, each in his own ship.” This squadron he afterwards
reinforced from Gigha.

“King Haco, however, made Andrew Pott go before him south
to Bute, with some small vessels, to join those he had already sent
thither. News was soon received that they had won a fortress, the
garrison of which had capitulated, and accepted terms of the Nor-
wegians. There was with the Norwegians a sea-officer called Rudri.
He considered Bute as his birthright; and because he had not re-
ceived the Island of the Scotch he committed many ravages, and
killed many people; and for that he was outlawed by the Scottish
king. He came to King Haco and took the oaths to him ; and with
two of his brothers became his subjects. As soon as the garrison,
after having delivered up the stronghold, were gone away from the
Norwegians, Rudri killed nine of them, because he thought that he
owed them no goodwill. Afterwards King Haco reduced the island
as is here said (by Sturla in the Raven-Ode) :—
¢ The wide-extended Bute was won from the forlorn wearers of rings

By the renowned and invincible troops of the promoter of conquest ;

They wielded the two-edged sword ; the foes of our Ruler dropt ;
And the Raven from his field of slaughter winged his flight for the Hebrides.’
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opinion that Allan Mac Ruari lived in the fifteenth century.
The poem would equally well describe the ruthless work of
Haco’s ally.

Early in October raged wild tempests of hail and rain,
wrecking many a brave galley, so that the Northmen thought
the troubled floods bewitched and the deep horridly en-
chanted. The masses said by Haco’s priests could not exor-
cise them. They saved Scotland in her extremity. Mean-
time fruitless negotiations as to an amicable settlement of the
dispute proceeded between the two kings. Each would have
or keep the isles—Alexander insisting especially upon pos-
sessing Bute, Arran, and the two Cumbraes. Haco then gaily
sailed past the Cumbraes and found anchorage in Rothesay
Bay, where he awaited the turn of events. The storm inter-
fered with Haco’s plan of an orderly assault on his foe. The
Scots army was massed above the town of Largs, under Alex-
ander of Dundonald, the Steward of Scotland. On Monday,
October 1, they had exciting skirmishes with the men of
some of the ships which had been wrecked. Next day the
Northmen stood in to Largs with reinforcements in small
boats, and hand-to-hand bouts, desperate charges and rallies
were made. Both sides boasted of their victory, but, after all,
the battle was a small affair, in which few of the more distin-
guished invaders fell. The tempest raged the while. The
storm-stayed and battered squadron of Magnus, probably filled
with spoil and with Highland neat, returned from Loch Long.
They carried with them Ivar Holm, who had died of disease.
On Wednesday the Northmen returned to land, and gave
their fallen comrades Christian burial in a neighbouring
church—whether at Largs, Cumbrae, or Bute is not men-
tioned. Still King Haco hung around two days, till on
























The Bishops of Sodor and Man. 263

the dioceses were generally tribal.! In Norway till the be-
ginning of the twelfth century bishops had no fixed dioceses.
The bishopric was probably founded before Man was governed
by its own independent kings, and no likelier epoch could
be suggested than that when Olaf of Dublin, the rebel Danish
King of Northumbria, was formally acknowledged by King
Eadmund of England on condition that he became a baptised
Christian. King Olaf’s reign ended in 943. His successors
were somewhat pagan in their character, and their visits to
the shrines were oftener for than with gold and silver. Con-
sequently we find that ‘The Chronicle of Man’ only places
two bishops in the see before the settled times of King
Godred Crowan (4 1095)—namely, Roolwer (Hrolfr), evidently
a Northman from his name, and William. On the other
hand, the Icelandic Annals do not recognise any Bishop of
Man before Ragnald, who died in 1170, a fact explained by
reference to the bull of Pope Anastasius IV. in 1154, which
transferred ecclesiastical jurisdiction in the Sudreys from the
Metropolitan See of York to that of Nidards in Norway.
These Annals further assert that after Ragnald’s death a
vacancy of forty years occurred, during which the Bishop
of Nidaros did not consecrate a successor. Then Koli, the
Nicolaus of the Chronicle, assumed the mitre. Meantime,
however, a complication of a most peculiar character seems
to have originated, by which either rival titular bishops
were appointed, or the diocese was divided into Man and
Sodor.

The Chapter of York, the Monastery of Savigny, and

afterwards its daughter-house of Furness, and the king,

1 Stokes, ‘ Ireland and the Celtic Church,’ p. 275.
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According to Matthew of Paris, the successor of Wimund
was John, a monk from the Cistercian Monastery of Savigny.
About 1130, Nicholas, a monk of the Abbey of Furness, was
elected bishop, but his elevation does not seem to have been
agreeable to the Primate of York, for in the ¢ Chronicle of
Man,” Gamaliel, an Englishman, is mentioned as if the former
had been set aside. Depositions at the point of the sword
were not infrequent then, and arguments in favour of Ultra-
montanism were answered with cold steel.

About a year after the Nidrosian metropolitan see was
erected (1152), whereby the jurisdiction of York was set
aside, we find Ragnald or Reginald, a Norwegian, entering
into the See of Man, and, probably supported by King
Godred, who had just returned from Norway with confirmed
regal authority, obtaining valuable concessions of the fruits
of the benefices. Godred and his episcopal confessor had
soon to reckon with Somerled of the Isles, who drove them
both into exile.

There was not lacking a religious spirit in that masterful
Gael, however thin the veneer of his piety was, which afforded
itself some satisfaction by having or seeing another Argyle-
shire man, Christian, placed in the bishop’s chair. His place
of sepulture in Bangor, Ireland, probably indicates the
seminary where Christian was educated, as well as the
tendency in Somerled to have the Church governed after
the time-honoured Celtic model. Somerled himself, however,
soon fell, and under the changed #4g7m¢ a Manxman, named
Michael, was appointed bishop; but he is not mentioned by
the Islandic writers, proving that English influences were at
work, or that irregularities of consecration, which the Arch-
bishop of Nidarés complained of to the Pope about 1204,
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for twenty-four years in office, and was buried in St German’s.
The synodal statutes he promulgated are also preserved, and
one of them is thoughtfully practical in its injunction upon
married persons not to sleep with their children lest they
should smother them. His seal is also preserved in a docu-
ment in the Chapter-house, Westminster. Under a Gothic
niche is the figure of a bishop vested, and in the act of
benediction. The inscription runs: “S. Marci Dei Gratia
Sodoren Episcopi.”

The Scots bishops apparently selected St Brioc’s Church,
Rothesay, for their cathedral; St Mary’s Chapel, which was
probably rebuilt in this epoch, served as their place of
sepulture.

¢The Chronicle of Man’ states that after Mark, “ Alan, a
native of Galloway, ruled the Sodorian church honourably,
died on the 15th of February 1320, and is buried in the
church of the blessed Mary of Rothersay in Buth.” This
Allan or Onachus was consecrated by Iorund at Drontheim.
The Chronicle further informs us: “To whom succeeded
Gilbert Mac Lelan, a native of Galloway. He was the
bishop of Sodor for two years and a half, and is buried
in the said church of Both.”

Gilbert, like his predecessors, was a man of figures, and
appears in 1326 auditing the books of the constable of Tar-
bart Castle. He seems to have been a favourite of King
Robert Bruce, and in constant attendance upon him in differ-
ent parts in Scotland, as we gather from the Exchequer
Rolls! The same year his lordship pays a tax in barley
to the king, and saw that his clergy did the same, for

1Vol. i,
VOL. 1. S
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“To him succeeded in the diocese Gamaliel, an Englishman,
who is interred at Peterborough in England.

‘“After this bishop, Ragnald, a Norwegian, undertook the
ecclesiastical government. To him the Thirds of the churches of
Man were first conceded by the clergy, so that thereafter they might
be freed from episcopal exactions.

“Cristin [Christian], an Argyle man, succeeded him in the
bishopric, and is interred in the monastery of Bangor.

‘After him Michael, a Manxman, revered in life as a monk
honourable and gentle in act and inclination, undertook the sacred
office ; he, after ending his life in a ripe old age, was honourably
buried at Fountains [Abbey.]

‘“Nicolaus, an Argyle man, succeeded him. He lies in the
monastery of Bangor.

“ After him Reginald, a noble man, of royal extraction, was con-
secrated bishop, and with vigour ruled the church. He was daily
exhausted by weakness, although he was not always lacking in spirit.
In the act of praise to God, in a good confession, he breathed his
last, and is buried in the Abbey of Saint Mary of Russin.

“His successor in the bishopric was John the son of Hefare
[John M‘Ivar], who, through some miserable accident, and the
carelessness of his servants, met his death by fire. He lies at
Jerewos [Jarrow ?] in England.

‘ After him Simon, an Argyle man, highly discreet, and erudite in
Scripture, ruled the church of Sodor. He departed life in a good
old age at St Michael’s Church, and is interred in the Church of
Saint German, which he had begun to build. After his demise the
see was vacant for nearly six years.

‘““ After Simon, truly the venerable Bishop of Sodor, Richard, an
Englishman, who had been consecrated at Rome by the Archbishop
of Nidaros, ruled the church for twenty-three years. While he was
coming from a General Council, A.D. 1274, he died at Langalyver
in Copland, and is buried in St Mary’s Monastery at Furness.

“After him Mark, a Gallovidian, ruled the church of Sodor for
twenty-four years most excellently. He was exiled by the Manxmen,
for which reason the island was under interdict for three years.
Afterwards, however, having been recalled, he returned, and for the
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tenere debuit ex dono Walteri filii Alani patris mei. Preterea ego
ipse pro anima regis David et pro anima regis Macolmi et pro
anima patris mei Walteri et matris mei Eschene, et pro salute
domini nostri Wilelmi regis Scotize et heredum suorum, et pro
salute meiipsius et heredum meorum, dono, concedo et hac mea
carta confirmo eidem domui de Passelet, et monachis ibidem Deo
servientibus, ecclesiam de Kengaif in insula de Bote, cum omnibus
capellis et tota parochia ejusdem insul®, et cum tota terra quam
Sanctus Blanissicum dicitur [Sanctus Blanus per sicum, ut dicitur ?]
olim cinxit a mare usque ad mare, per metas certas et apparentes,
ita libere et quiete sicut aliqua ecclesia in toto regno Scotiae tenetur
liberius et quietius. Hiis testibus, Waltero de Costentin, Nigello
fratre ejusdem, Roberto filio Fulberti, Petro fratre ejusdem, Galfrido
de Costentin, Roberto Croc, Rolando de Mernis, Rogero de Nes,
Macolmo Lockart, et multis aliis.

III.— EXTRACTS FROM THE ‘DESCRIPTION OF THE
WESTERN ISLES OF SCOTLAND, CALLED HYBRIDES.
By MR DoNALD MUNRO, HIGH DEAN OF THE ISLES,
WHO TRAVELLED THROUGH THE MOST OF THEM IN
THE YEAR 1594 ‘Miscellanea Scotica,’ vol. ii. p. I135.
Glasgow, 1818.

ArrAN.—Be north or northeist fra this ile (viz., Ailsa) twenty-
four myles of sea, lies Arran, ane grate ile, full of grate montains and
forrests, good for hunting, with pairt of woods, extending in lengthe
from the Kyle of Arran to Castle Dounan, southwart to twenty-four
myles, and from the Kyle of Drumdouin to the ness of Kilbride,
sixteen myles of breadthe, inhabit onlie at the sea coasts. Herein
are thre castils : ane callit Braizay, pertening to the Earle of Arran;
ane uther auld house callit the castil at the heid of Lochrenasay,
pertyning likeways to the said Earle; and the third callit castle
Dounan, pertaining to ane of the Stuarts of Butes blood, callit Mr
James ; he and his bluid are the best men in that countrey. In
Arran is a loche callit Lochrenasay, with three or four small waters ;
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IV.—EXTRACTS FrrROM ‘A DESCRIPTION OF THE
WESTERN ISLANDS OF SCOTLAND. By M. MARTIN,
GENT.” ILondon, 1703, pp. 214-216.

Boor.—The isle of Boot, being ten miles in length, lies on the
west side of Cowal, from which it is separated by a narrow channel,
in several parts not a mile broad. The north end of this isle is
mountainous and heathy, being more designed for pasturage than
cultivation ; the mold is brown or black, and in some parts clayie;
the ground yields a good produce of oats, barley, and pease ; there
is but little wood growing there, yet there is a coppice at the side of
Loch Fad. The ground is arable from the middle to the southward,
the Hectic stone is to be had in many parts of this isle ; and there is
a quarry of red stone near the town of Rosa, by which the fort there
and the chappel on its north side have been built. Rothsay, the
head town of the shire of Boos and Aran, lies on the east coast of
Boote, and is one of the titles of the Prince of Scotland. King
Robert the Third created his son Duke of Rothesay, and Steward
of Scotland ; and afterwards Queen Mary created the Lord Darnley
Duke of Rothesay, before her marriage with him. This town is a
very ancient royal burgh, but thinly peopled, there not being above
a hundred families in it, and they have no foreign trade. On the
north side of Rothsay there is a very ancient ruinous fort, round in
form, having a thick wall, and about three stories high, and passages
round within the wall ; it is surrounded with a wet ditch; it has a
gate on the south, and a double gate on the east, and a bastion on
each side the gate, and without these there’s a drawbridge, and the
sea flows within forty yards of it. The fort is large enough for
exercising a battallion of men ; it has a chappel, and several little
houses within ; and a large house of four stories high, fronting the
eastern gate. The people here have a tradition, that this fort was
built by King Rosa, who is said to have come to this isle before
King Fergus the First. The other forts are Down-Owle and Down-
Allin, both on the west side.

The churches here are as follow :—Kilmichel, Kilblain, and Kil-
chattan, in the South Parish; and Lady Kirk, in Rothesay, is the
most northerly parish. All the inhabitants are Protestants.
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1506, Almorusbeg. Gael., amar, channel, trough; é&eag,
little.

AMBRISMORE.—Dr M., ¢“The great trough.” 1506, Almorusmore.,

ARDBEG.—Dr M., “Ard-Bheag, Little height or rising ground.”
Gael,, aird, drd, a height, head, promontory.

ARDMALEISH.—Dr M., “Ard-Ma-Gkil-losa, The point of Jesus’
servant’s son.” 1400, Ardmaleish; 1561, Ardmoleis. The
height of Moleis, Molios (0 Zos, my flame). See p. 195.

ArDNAGAVE.—The height of danger. Gael., gabiudk, danger.

ARDNAHOE.—Dr M., “Ardnakuath, The height above the cow
[cave?].” 1440, Ardnahow; 1506, Ardnehow. Gael., Aird,
a height or promontory ; wam#h, cave.

ARDNLOT.—Dr M., “The fail shillin houses.” Gael., /¢, a wound.
The height of the wound.

ARDROSCADALE.—Dr M., “ Ardroscadale, Rich or fertile height of
the point.” 1475, Ardrossigelle. This strange compound
may be made up of words from the Goidelic, Brythonic, and
Norse languages. A#d, Gael,, height ; 7os, Gael., promontory,
or Rosca, Norse proper name ; dale, Norse, a little dale, or da/,
Brythonic, a meeting-place; or gelle, corrupt form of Norse
gi/l, a defile or glen. On the ridge of Ardroscadale a circular
fort is to be seen. See p. 46.

ARDSCALPSIE—Dr M., ¢ Ardscalasaig, Height or promontory of the
bason.” See Scalpsie.

Ascoc.—Dr M., “The cuckoo’s retreat.” 1503, Ascok. Norse,
askr, a boat ; kaugr, a mound. The boat-mound.

AUCHANTIRIE.—Dr M., “Adckaindireadh, The field of the rising
ground.” In 1440 written Achanherve; 1449, Achynhervy;
1506, Auchintarve—i.e., the bull’s field (Gael., fard%, bull).
Gael., achadh-na-tive - achadk, field ; tir, land.

AvucHAWILLIG.—Dr M., ““ Ack-a-Bhuilg, The field of the belly or
ridge.” 1449, Awchywilk; 1506, Auchawolik, field of the
womb, blister, or quiver. Might have connection with Bolg—
the Firbolg, see p. 26.

AvurtmoRE.—“ The big burn.” Gael,, a/¢, a brook ; mor, great.

BaipLanp.—The towers.  Gael., baideal, a tower or pillar.
BaiLeaMHUILIN.—The mill-town. Gael., ai/, baile, hamlet, village ;
muileann, mill,
VOL. 1. 0y
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fortified place; da/r, a dale; dae/, a little dale. Gael., crubka,
shoulder of a hill. Cf. DUNBURGIDALE.

BirciDALE-KNOCK.—Dr M., “The hill covered with brushwood.”

BrLARDIVE, — 1449, Blardyve. Gael,, 4/3r, a plain, battle-field,
battle.

BLARMEIN.—Gael,, blar, field ; mein, ore, vein of metal.

Bocanv.—Dr M., “ Both-an-Ack, The hut or cottage field.” Gael.,,
both, house ; gaothanack, windy. The windy house.

BRANSARE.—Dr M., “ Branser, The farm with brittle ground.”
1440, Bransare; 1506, Bransier. Perhaps related to é4#éax,
stinking. Old Erse, 47én ; Erse, bréan ; Gael., breun, stinking,
foul, is applied to marshy places. Cf. Breansha, near Tipperary
(i.e., breansach, a stinking place). Cf. Maxwell’s ‘Studies in
the Topography of Galloway,” p. 95, under Branyea.

BRrRECKOCH.—Dr M., “Tigha-Breackdaick, The house of the speckled
field.” Gael, breacack, speckled, brindled, broken.

BronocH.—The sorrow-field. Gael., 707, sorrow ; ackads, field.

BruacunacaoracH—The sheep-ascent.  Gael., brwack, a bank,
short ascent ; caora, caorach, a sheep.

BrucHOG.—Dr M., ‘“Bruckhaif, A pleasant precipice.” 1440,
Bruchag; 1509, Brothog. Gael.,, druack, a brink or hill;
brothog is a diminutive of old Gael. drof, a ditch. There
was a tumulus here, and the word might be compounded of
Teut. borg, burg, or brugh, and Teut. Aaugr, a mound. One
of the old names of this district was Cuningburgh.

BuLL Locu.—The hill loch.  Ger., du/i/, hill.

BULOCHREG.—Dr M., ¢ Buaile-chretg, The fold of the rock.”
Gael., duaile, a fold; creag, rock.

BUTEANLEANAIN.—The meadow-butt. Gael., Zarn, a meadow.

BurTanLOIN.—The marsh-butt. Gael., Jon, /oin, marsh, meadow.

Burr-BLAIR.—Dr M., “The plain butt.” Med. Anglo-Latin, dz#fa,
division, measure of land ; Gael., élar, blair, a plain, a green.

BurT-cURRY.—Dr M., “ The Champion’s butt.”

Burrpusu.—The black butt. Gael. dué/, black.

BuTTINLUCK.—The mouse-butt. Gael., &%, a mouse.

BurrNacoiLLE.—The butt of the wood. Gael., coille, wood.

BurrNacrEic.—The butt of the crag.  Gael,, ¢reag, rock, crag.

BurTNaAFLORIN,—The butt of the flowerets. Gael,, fuirein,
floweret,
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or hook.” Gael., cxom, a circle; afg or ag, a diminutive ; or
aig, Gael. for Teut. 7%, a bay ; hence, Glen of the round bay.

GLENDUIN.—Dr M., * The steep glen”—Glen of the forts. Gael.,
dun (pl. duin), fort.

GLENMORE.—Dr M., “ Glean Mhor, The large glen.”

GLENVODIAN.—Modan’s glen, or The glen of vows. Gael., doid, pl.
boidean, vow, vows. See p. 210,

GORTANS.—Dr M., “ Goirteain, The small patches of land.” Gael,,
goirtein, a little corn-field.

GRENACH. — Dr M., * Greanack, Shaggy.” Gael., grianach, adj.,
sunny, from grian, the sun. Cf. Ir. grianog, sunny little hill.

GRINAN MiLL—Dr M., ¢ Muilean-Ghrianan, The mill of the sunny
place.” 1400, Grenan. Gael, grianan, a sunny spot.

Kames.—Gael.,, camus, a bay. 14735, Camys.
KELLIELUPE.— 1440, Kellielupe; 1445, Kellislowpe; 1449, Kel-
loup. Gael., caol, caoile, narrow ; /iiib, creek, little glen.
KEeLspoRE.—Dr M., ¢ Kelspag, The burying point of land.” 1506,
Kellspokis. Might be Cill-espuic, The church of the bishop.

It is near St Blaan’s church.

KERRYCROY. — Dr M., “The hard quarter.” Gael, ceithramhs,
quarter, division; cruaidk, hard. Cf. cruaidk, a stone used
for an anchor.

KERRYCRUSACH.—Dr M., “The gaping quarter.” 1440, Kerbcreach ;
1449, Kervecresach; later, Kerrycroisic. Gael., czosag, streaked;
croiseag, a little cross. Kerrycrusach might thus mean ¢ The
district of the little crosses,” referring to Crossbeg and Cross-
more, places in the immediate vicinity.

KERRYFEARN.—Dr M., ¢ Ceathramhfern, The alder-tree quarter.”
Gael., fedrna, alder-tree. See p. 30.

KERRYLAMONT.—Dr M., “Lamont’s quarter.” See p. 33.

KERRYMENOCH.—Dr M., “The middle quarter.” 1506, Keryman-
ach, The monks’ quarter. Gael., manach, a monk; mead-
honach, intermediate.

KERRYMORANE. — Moran’s quarter, or populous quarter. 1527,
Keremorane. Gael., moran, multitude.

KERRYNEVEN.—1527, Kerenevin, Neven’s quarter.

KERRYTONLIA.—Dr M., “The low grey quarter.” Gael., ceithramh
Donuill, Donald’s quarter.
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LaNciLBUINOCH.—Dr M.,  Zanbkuinidh, The profitable field.”
1554, Langilwinox in Langilwunnan; 1555, Langilbunnage.

LaNGiLcHORAD.—Dr M., “ A plain fauld.” 1664, Langlelorid.

LaNciLLcuLcaTHLA,—Perhaps for Langil - Kilchattan, 1498,
Langmyllculcathlane ; 1506, Langilculr(c)athla.

LANGILLCULCREITH.—1 525, Langilculcluth,

LANGILLMILGAY.

LANGILLQUOCHAG. See (QUOCHAG.

LARGIVRECHTAN.—Dr M., ‘ Zargivrechtan, The rocky declivity.”
1440, Largabrachtan.  Gael, /larg-a-bhreachdain, the slope
covered with wheat, or Nechtan’s slope.

LARGIZEAN.—Dr M., ““ Largikean, The Daisy field.” 1506, Largil-
yane; 1533, Largayan.

LEANENTESKEN.—Dr M., ¢ Leanantshrasfona, Meadow or plain of
the barren land.” Gael., lana-na-feasgan, marsh with eels.

LEANY.—Dr M., “The wet field.” Gael, Zana, always implies a
marshy field.

LecHTAN.—Dr M., ¢ Leackdunn, Rocky steep or hanging ground.”
Gael, leac, leackd, declivity ; din, mount.

LEINHALL.—Dr M., ¢ ZLean-a-Choill, The field of the wood.”

LENIHULINE.—Dr M., “ Zean-a-Chuillean, The field or plain of the
holly. Gael., cuilionn, holly.

LENIMOLACH.—Dr M., « Zeana-mholack, The rough field.” Gael.,
l2ana molack, mead of rough grass—i.e., abundant.

LEPINQUHILLIN. — Bed of hollies. 1449, Lapennycale. Gael.,
leaba, bed ; cuilionn, holly.

Locu Na LricHE.—Leitch’s loch—the physician’s loch,

Lueas.—Dr M., “A small bay.” 1440, Lubas; 1449, Lowpas,
Gael, /2b, a bend ; eas, a waterfall. The bend or winding of
the cascade.

MaRG-NA-HEGLISH—The church’s portion of land. Gael, marg,
portion ; eaglais, church.

MEeapowcap, — The meadow freehold land. Ang.-Sax., medu,
meadow ; Scand., 4azp, land, freehold land.

MEeckNoCH.—Dr M., ¢ Beachd-chnoc, The view-hill or hillock.”

MucricH.—The pig’s stone. Gael,, muzc, pig; leac, a flat stone.

NAHOIRAN.—Dr M., “The sandy field.” See TIGHNAHOIRIN.
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Crnithnigh, the, a primitive people in
Erin and Alban, 26, 155, 160.

Cromlechs, 65-68.

Crosses, Christian, preserved in Bute, 39
—at Inchmarnock, 135, 222—at Kil-
blaan, 176, 219—in Rothesay church-
yard, 225—in Rothesay Castle, 233.

Culdees, origin of the order of, 126, 127.

Cumbrae, isles of, 31, 281-284.

Cuthbert, St, hermitage, 180 — sarco-
phagus of, 189,

Dalriadans, Hibernian colonists in Alban,
155.

Dambhliags, stone churches in Ireland,
183.

Danes, the. See Northmen.

Daniel, Bishop of Kingarth, 202, 203,
06

206.

Degsastan, defeat of King Aidan at battle
of, in Liddesdale, 162.

““Deil’s Cauldron,” the, at St Blaan’s
church, the work of a prehistoric race,
20—size, 21—probable purpose as a
broch, 2z2—Ilatterly place of penance,
126—tree-worship at, 23—Celtic name,
23, 174, 179.

Dempster, 110, 111.

Deserts, cells or hermitages, 125.

Dhu Loch, Crannog in, 42.

Districts in Bute, Celtic, 33.

Divisions of land, Celtic, 33.

Dolmens, at Bicker’s Houses, 65 — at
Michael’s grave, 66.
¢Dreamin’ Tree Ruin.”

Cauldron.”

Druidism, similar to worship of aborigines
in Alban, 25.

Druids, 84 — priests and wizards with
pretended powers, 85— creed, white
vestments, 85.

Drumceatt, Convention of, 160.

Drumgirvan, Fort, 52.

Dugall, son of Ruari, King of Sudreys,
248, 253.

Duiéteachs, wooden churches in Scotland,
185.

Dunagoil, Fort, 6, 14—description of, 55-

See ¢ Deil’s

59-

Dunallunt, Fort, 45.

Dunblane, church of, connected with St
Blaan, 171—bishopric founded by Earl
of Stratherne, 173, 271—St Columba
buried here, 172—English churches be-
longing to, 171.

Dunbreatan (Dunbritton,
108.

Dunburgidale, Fort, 53. °

Dunmonaigh, or Dunadd, site of, 156.

Dumbarton),

303

Dunoon, castle-hill of, 156—Presbytery
of, enactment forbidding superstitious
burial at Kilblaan, 190.

Duns, the, 37.

Dun Scalpsie, Fort, 47.

““Dux Britanniarum,” a Roman military
office assumed by British over-king,
165.

Eadwine, King of Northumbria, 204.

Earth forts, the, 37.

Edward 1., documents referring to Bute
in time of, 11, 12.

Eilean Buidhe, Fort, description of, 59-
61.

Engaricenna, Engaritena, supposed name
of Kingarth in time of Ptolemy, 4, 5.

Erc, St, 143.

Ernan (Marnan, Marnock), St, 127, 130.

Ertha, mother of St Blaan, 27, 136, 167.

Ethelfrid, King of the Northumbrians,
162.

Faolan, St, a Pictish missionary, 29.

Ferchardo de Buit, witness to charter, 12.

Ferguson, James, on brochs, 22—on Celtic
architecture, 187,

Feys, invisible spirits carried off Malcolm
Mackay in Glencallum, 86.

Finan, Finnian, St (Wynnin), Pictish
missionary, 29—life of, 102, 106—pil-
grimages to Alban, 1035.

Finan, St, 203, 206.

Finds, 39, 81.

Finn, the heroic band of, not traced in
Bute, 87.

Firbolg, an early migratory race in Erin,
26.

Fitzalan. See Alan the Steward.

Foreign ecclesiastics in Erin attending
schools, 109.

Forts. See Earth forts, Stone forts,
Castles; also Dunallunt, Aitrick, Nether
Ardroscadale, Dun Scalpsie, Ardnahoe,
Carnahouston, Clachcarnie, Mecknoch,
Castle Cree, Bicker's Houses, Ault-
more, Cnoc-an-Coigreaich, Ardmaleish,
Drumgirvan, Barone, Balilone, Dunbur-
gidale, Dunagoil, Eilean Buidhe.

Frigidianus, St, of Lucca, mistaken for
St Finan, 105. See Finan.

Gaels, Gaelic. See Goidel.

Gallarus, oratory of, 214.

Galloway, Mr William, architect, descrip-
tion of St Blaan’s church, 183, Pref-
ace.

Garth (Kingarth), isle of, 7.

Gildas, St, 143.
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Macgillchiarans, a family in Bute, prob-
ably deriving their name from St
Ciaran, 139.

Mac:-gill-mhichells, 112.

Machilla, St, festival in Bute, I11.

Mackinlay, John, history of Rothesay
Castle, 16— description of crannoges,
42-—description of Carnbaan, 74.

Maclea, Rev. Dr, parish minister of
Rothesay, 101, 163, 23I.

M ‘Lelan, Gilbert, Bishop of Sodor and
Man, 100.

Mac Maelcon, king, 155.

Macpherson, Dr, thinks Epidium was
Bute, 10.

Maelmanach, Abbot of Kingarth, 202,
203, 2II.

Magnus Barefoot, King of Norway, occu-
pies Bute, makes Kintyre an island,
death, 245, 246 —laws of, regarding
the Fire-watch, 13.

Magnus IV., King of Norway, treaty with
Scotland in 1266, 256, 257.

Magnus, King of Man, meets Haco in
Skye, 253

Major, John, ¢ Greater Britain,” 10.

Malcolm II., King of Scotland, 240.

Malcolm III., King of Scotland, 241.

Man. See Isle of Man.

Manan, a district south of the Forth, 160.

Margaret, Queen, 100.

Marnock, St. See Ernan.

Martin, reference to Rosa, 15—mention
of Kilmichel, 113—extract of ‘ Descrip-
tion of Western Islands,” 287.

Martyrology of Aberdeen, 13, 153.

Mary, St, Chapel of, 99, 235.

Mecknoch, Fort, 48.

Memorial stones, stances of, 65.

Merchertach, cell of, in Ratisbon, 125.

¢ Metrical Chronicle’ (Stewart’s), 9.

Michael, St, Chapel in Rothesay Castle,
186.

Michael’s Grave, dolmen called, 66, 112.

Modan, St, 210.

Molaise, St, grandson of King Aidan,
nephew of St Blaan, 137, 195.

Molios. See Molaise.

Monoliths, still standing, 38.

Monro (or Munro), Dean, reference to
Butt, Buitt, Rosay, 13, 15-—extracts
frsom ¢ Description of Western Isles,’
283.

Monuments of unrecorded times in Bute,

30.

Mountstuart, cist with trepanned skull
found at, 68, 72.

Munro, Dr, on Mountstuart trepanned
skull, 71.

VOL. I.

Naines connected with Celtic saints, 138.

Neills, the, of Kilmorie, 103.

Neolithic age, the, 63.

Nether Ardroscadale Fort, 46.

Nigil de Buyt, witness to charter, 12.

Ninian, St, 92—life of by Ailred, 93—
sketch of life, 92-98—death, g7—chapel
of, in Bute, 95.

Noe, Abbot of Kingarth, 202, 203, 211.

Northmen, 11—in Western Isles, Cowall,
&c., 18 —language of, in Bute, 34—
migrations of, 236—two kinds of, 237
—first appearance of, 238—settlements
in Isles, 239 —subdue Scots, 240 —
civilisation, 241 — religion, 243—cus-
toms, 244. Vikings, piratical baysmen,
come to Scottish Isles, 237—character,
241. Danes, the, establish kingdom
of Dublin, 239 — become Christians,
242.

Nunnery at Kilblaan, 189.

Qdyssey, the Christian, 139-153.

Olaf the White (or Red), King of Man,
188, 247.

Olaf Tryggvason, King of Norway, 242.

Olave the Black, King of Man, 250.

Orders of Irish Saints, the three, 123,
124.

Osuiu, King of Northumbria, 204.

Oswald, King of Northumbria, invites
Celtic monks to Northumbria, 205.

Patrick, St, 102—life of, 107, 109—mis-
sionary efforts in Erin, 109—influence
in Alban, 110 —church at Foirrgea,
186.

Paul, St, in the West, reference by
Clement of Rome, 88.

Petrie, Dr, on Romanesque architecture
in Ireland, 187.

Picts, the, 23, 24, 26, 290—missionaries,

29.

““ Piper’s Cave,” the, 27.

Pit-dwellings remaining in Bute, 37.

Place-names in Bute, 28-35, 288-300.

Plan, finds at farm of, 81.

Pont, Timothy, 99.

Prehistoric inhabitants of Bute, 20-31.

Ptolemy the geographer, mention of
Eboudai, probably including Bute,

3 4

Querns, 39, 178, footnote.
Quien Loch, crannog in, 44.

Raths, the, 37.
Ratisbon, Merchertach’s cell in, 1235.
Reeves, Dr, on St Blaan, 173.

19)
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